
April 2010 
 

BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 
 
The Board of Zoning Appeals is a group of seven of your neighbors or peers appointed 
by City Council to pass judgment on requests for variances and other matters that are 
brought before them.  A variance is a relaxation of the literal provisions of the Zoning 
Ordinance. Petitioners must indicate a hardship or practical difficulty running with the 
land that would warrant the granting of the variance. 
 

PROCEDURE 
 
The Board will hear the items in the order that they appear on the agenda.  When an 
item is called, the Chairman will verify that the petitioner is present. Then the City 
Administration will summarize the facts of the case.  The petitioner will then be given an 
opportunity to address the Board to explain the justification for the action requested. 
 
After the petitioner makes their presentation, and answers any questions that the Board 
may have, the Chairman will open the Public Hearing.  Any person wishing to speak on 
the request should raise their hand and when recognized by the Chairman, come up to 
the podium and sign in on the sheet provided.  The speaker should identify themselves 
with name and address, indicate their relationship to the property in question (i.e. next 
door neighbor, live behind the property, etc.) and state whether they are in favor of or 
against the variance request and give reasons for their opinion.  Comments must be 
directed through the Chairman.  Comments should be kept as brief as possible and 
closely pertain to the matter under consideration.  Only one person will be recognized 
by the Chairman to speak at one time. 
 
At the conclusion of public comments the Chairman will close the Public Hearing.  Once 
the Public Hearing is closed, no other public comment will be taken unless in response 
to a specific question by a member of the Board.  The Board will then make a motion to 
approve, deny, or table (delay action) the request.  In order for the request to pass a 
minimum of four votes for approval are needed.  If the request is not granted, the 
applicant has the right to appeal the Board’s decision to Oakland County Circuit Court. 
 



Revised 5/6/11 

 
 
VARIANCE REVIEW STANDARDS ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION 15.04 (E) (2) 

 
Dimensional or other non-use variances shall not be granted by the Zoning Board of Appeals 
unless it can be determined that all of the following facts and conditions exist: 
 
a) Exceptional characteristics of property for which the variance is sought make compliance with 

dimensional requirements substantially more difficult than would be the case for the great 
majority of properties in the same zoning district. Characteristics of property which shall be 
considered include exceptional narrowness, shallowness, smallness, irregular shape, 
topography, vegetation and other similar characteristics.  

b) The characteristics which make compliance with dimensional requirements difficult must be 
related to the premises for which the variance is sought, not some other location. 

c) The characteristics which make compliance with the dimensional requirements shall not be of 
a personal nature.  

d) The characteristics which make compliance with dimensional requirements difficult must not 
have been created by the current or a previous owner.  

e) The proposed variance will not be harmful or alter the essential character of the area in which 
the property is located, will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property, 
or unreasonably increase the congestion in public streets, or increase the danger of fire or 
endanger the public safety, or unreasonably diminish or impair established property value 
within the surrounding area, or in any other respect impair the public health, safety, comfort, 
morals or welfare of the inhabitants of the City. 



NOTICE: People with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk by e-
mail at clerk@troymi.gov or by calling (248) 524-3317 at least two working days in advance of the meeting.  An attempt will be 
made to make reasonable accommodations. 

 

 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 MEETING AGENDA 

      

Allen Kneale, Chair, and Glenn Clark, Vice Chair 
Bruce Bloomingdale, Kenneth Courtney 

David Eisenbacher, Tom Krent, David Lambert 
Orestis Kaltsounis (Alternate), Paul McCown (Alternate) 

   

December 17, 2013 7:30 P.M. Council Chamber 
   

 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – November 19, 2013 
 
3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
4. HEARING OF CASES 
 

A. VARIANCE REQUEST, ROBERT A. CHAPMAN, 482 STARR – In order to split a 
parcel into two parcels, a variance from the requirement that new parcels have a 60 
foot width and frontage.  One of the proposed lots will have a 50 foot width and 
frontage. 

 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 4.06 (C) R-1E Zoning 

 
B. VARIANCE REQUEST, MARVIN PISARCZYK for WITZENMANN USA, 1201 and 

1305 STEPHENSON HIGHWAY – In order to construct an addition to both buildings 
that will connect the buildings, a 10 foot variance to the required minimum 10 foot side 
yard setback.  This variance is needed for both properties. 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 4.15 (C)  IB Zoning District 

 
C. VARIANCE REQUEST, BRANDON MULLER for CLARK HILL PCL, 268-388 JOHN R – 

In order to construct parapet walls, a 5 foot variance to the required maximum 30 foot 
height limit. 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 4.13 (C)  CB Zoning District 

 
D. ZONING ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION, 4924 ROCHESTER – To interpret 

whether the proposed principal use of property constitutes a community center, a club, 
place of worship, or some other use under the City’s Zoning Ordinance. 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 15.04 (B and D) 

500 W. Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084 
(248) 524-3364 
www.troymi.gov 

planning@troymi.gov 

mailto:clerk@ci.troy.mi.us�
http://www.troymi.gov/�


Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Agenda  Page 2 
December 17, 2013 
 
 

NOTICE: People with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk by e-
mail at clerk@troymi.gov or by calling (248) 524-3317 at least two working days in advance of the meeting.  An attempt will be 
made to make reasonable accommodations. 

 

 

 
5. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
6. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS 
 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 

mailto:clerk@ci.troy.mi.us�


ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING   FINAL NOVEMBER 19, 2013 

1 

On November 19, 2013, at 7:30 p.m., in the Council Chambers of Troy City Hall, Vice Chair 
Clark called the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting to order. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Bruce Bloomingdale 
Glenn Clark 
Kenneth Courtney 
Orestis Kaltsounis 
Thomas Krent 
David Lambert 
Paul McCown 
 
Also Present: 
Paul Evans, Zoning and Compliance Specialist 
Julie Quinlan Dufrane, Assistant City Attorney 
 
Absent: 
Allen Kneale 
David Eisenbacher 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – October 15, 2013 
 
Moved by Courtney 
Seconded by McCown 
 
RESOLVED, to approve the October 15, 2013 meeting minutes. 
 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

 
3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA – No changes 
 
4. HEARING OF CASES 

 
A. VARIANCE REQUEST, ROBERT A. CHAPMAN, 482 STARR – Variance 

request, Robert A. Chapman, 482 Starr - In order to split a parcel into two 
parcels, a variance from the requirement that new parcels have a 60 foot width 
and frontage.  One of the proposed lots will have a 50 foot width and frontage. 
Zoning Ordinance Section 4.06 (C), R-1E Zoning. 
 
Moved by Courtney 
Seconded by Kaltsounis 
 
RESOLVED, to postpone the matter to the regularly scheduled December 17, 
2013 Zoning Board of Appeals meeting.   



ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING   FINAL NOVEMBER 19, 2013 

2 

 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

 
5. COMMUNICATIONS – 2014 Zoning Board of Appeals meeting schedule – no action 

required 
 
6. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS – Assistant City Attorney Dufrane distributed a 

memorandum to the Board members containing information regarding requests for 
interpretation. 

 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT – None 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT – The Zoning Board of Appeals meeting ADJOURNED at 8:19 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
      _____ 
Glenn Clark, Vice Chair 
 
 
 
 
      _____ 
Paul Evans, Zoning and Compliance Specialist 
 
 
\\King\planning\ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS\Minutes\2013\Draft\2013 11 19  ZBA Minutes draft.doc 
 



4. HEARING OF CASES 
 

A. VARIANCE REQUEST, ROBERT A. CHAPMAN, 482 STARR – In order to split a parcel 
into two parcels, a variance from the requirement that new parcels have a 60 foot width 
and frontage.  One of the proposed lots will have a 50 foot width and frontage. 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 4.06 (C) R-1E Zoning 

 



From: Linda Chapman
To: Paul M Evans
Cc: Bob Chapman
Subject: Withdrawal of application for variance
Date: Monday, December 09, 2013 12:13:57 PM

Mr. Evans,
Please withdraw the request for the variance on 482 Starr, Troy.
We are looking into the situation further at this time.
If you have any questions please contact Bob Chapman @ 586-899-3970.
 
Thank you,
 
Linda M. Chapman
In-Line Construction, Inc.
22120 Ryan Road
Warren, MI 48091
586-755-4252
Fax: 586-755-4272
 

mailto:lindachapman@wowway.com
mailto:P.Evans@troymi.gov
mailto:rac@wowway.com
evanspm
Typewritten Text
ZBA 482 STARR



4. HEARING OF CASES 
 

B. VARIANCE REQUEST, MARVIN PISARCZYK for WITZENMANN USA, 1201 and 1305 
STEPHENSON HIGHWAY – In order to construct an addition to both buildings that will 
connect the buildings, a 10 foot variance to the required minimum 10 foot side yard 
setback.  This variance is needed for both properties. 

 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 4.15 (C)  IB Zoning District 
 











































4. HEARING OF CASES 
 

C. VARIANCE REQUEST, BRANDON MULLER for CLARK HILL PCL, 268-388 JOHN R – 
In order to construct parapet walls, a 5 foot variance to the required maximum 30 foot 
height limit. 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 4.13 (C)  CB Zoning District 

 
 











STATEMENT OF PRACTICAL DIFFICULTY

The subject property has been developed and is being used as a multi-tenant retail center.  
It is situated at the northeast corner of 14 Mile Road and John R. Road and is zoned (CB) 
Community Business.  Pursuant to Section 4.13.C. of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance, the 
maximum allowable building height in CB zoning districts is thirty (30) feet.

The owner desires to make exterior storefront improvements to the center by renovating 
the facade of certain space leased by T.J. Maxx as well as the façade of certain vacant space 
situated to the south of the T.J. Maxx space.  The changes are in large part to accommodate the 
needs of national retail tenants, such as T.J. Maxx, who have developed distinct brand identity 
and building prototypes since first renting with the center.

It is intended that the proposed improvements will (i) complement the overall character 
of the center and the district; (ii) freshen, update and enhance the look of the exterior of the 
center; (iii) incorporate additional architectural design variations to ensure that the exterior of the 
center is visually appealing and is not monotonous in appearance; and (iv) improve the visibility 
of the center, thereby benefitting the businesses of all tenants of the center.

Plans for the proposed improvements have been prepared and the owner believes that 
such plans are consistent with and further the intent outlined above.  The plans are compliant 
with the CB zoning district requirements in all respects, except that the maximum allowable 
building height of thirty (30) feet will be exceeded by five (5) feet, resulting in a maximum 
building height of thirty-five (35) feet for both the T.J. Maxx space and the vacant space situated 
to the south of the T.J. Maxx space.

The owner believes that the foregoing variance will improve visibility of the center from 
within the subject property.  While the variance will not increase the visibility of the center from 
the major thoroughfares of 14 Mile Road or John R. Road, it will increase visibility internal to 
the subject property.  There are numerous mature trees within the center that contribute to the 
beauty of the center greens space; however, these trees obstruct the visibility of the center.  The 
variance is a favorable alternative to trimming the trees in order to improve visibility.  Improved 
visibility will result in increased business to tenants within the center, thereby improving the 
ability to lease the center to new tenants.

The owner is confident that an approval of the foregoing variance will positively impact the 
surrounding area by increasing business and property values.  The owner does not believe that an 
approved variance would in any manner impair the supply of light and air to adjacent properties due 
to the small extent of the requested height increase.  Nor would an approved variance increase the 
congestion on public streets because it is solely a vertical, rather than a horizontal, improvement.  
Additionally, because the storefront improvements will be constructed in compliance with the City 
of Troy Zoning Ordinance and all applicable laws, an approved variance would not endanger public 
safety or harm public health, safety, comfort, morals or welfare.

As outlined in this statement, the extent of the variance request is relatively small and it is 
improbable that the approval of such request would negatively impact adjacent properties or the 
public; rather, the approval of such request would create numerous material benefits to adjacent 
properties, the public and to tenants of the center. Accordingly, the owner is hopeful that the 
Zoning Board of Appeals will grant a five (5) foot height variance for the T.J. Maxx space and 
the vacant space situated to the south of the T.J. Maxx space.  



10292498.1 30334/127764
10298866.1 30334/127764

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE REQUEST

The owner, UrbanCal Oakland Plaza, seeks two non-use (dimensional) variances from 
Section 4.13.C. of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance.  In particular, the owner desires to make 
exterior storefront improvements to the center by renovating the facade of certain space leased
by T.J. Maxx as well as the facade of certain vacant space situated to the south of the T.J. Maxx 
space.

The location of the proposed improvement is Oakland Plaza, which along with its 
brethren properties Oakland Mall and Oakland Square (collectively, the "Oakland Centers") total 
two million square feet of regional shopping center retail space.  The Oakland Centers have a
family-friendly atmosphere and a wide selection of stores, with great access and visibility from 
major thoroughfares Interstate 75, 14 Mile Road, and John R. Road.  The Oakland Centers' 
central location in the tri-county shopping district continues to make it a powerful retail 
destination today and will continue to do so into the future.

Oakland Mall was built in the sixties, and the Oakland Centers have been a vital, 
contributing part of the City of Troy for decades.  More recently, in 2007, the Oakland Centers 
were acquired by a retail joint venture relationship between Urban Retail Properties and the
California State Teachers' Retirement System.  The venture was formed to look for value-added 
development and acquisition opportunities in retail centers such as the Oakland Centers.  Since 
the acquisition, ownership has been committed to improving both the customer and tenant 
experience, and as any visitor to the locations will recognize, efforts to this end are beginning to 
bear fruit.

This project is part of that trajectory.  Ownership seeks to accommodate loyal, successful 
tenants to meet their retail development needs.  In this instance, a tenant that has flourished 
commercially since first opening in Oakland Plaza is in need of a facade redesign to match that 
of its corporate template and branding requirements.

cgornbein
Rectangle



ELEVATION DRAWING



35
'

53'-8"

7'
-1

"
10

'

120'

ORECK
MW TUXBRA WORLD

17
'-1

1"

35
'

77'

189'-6"

STORE

PROPOSED ELEVATION
OAKLAND PLAZA                                                11/15/13

URBAN

RETAIL PROPERTIES, LLC.



EXISTING PLOT PLAN



14
M

IL
E

R
O

AD

0' 50' 200'100'

JOHN R. ROAD

BANK
CHASE

BURGER
KING

MOBIL

V
IT

AM
IN

S
H

O
PP

E

K
IR

K
LA

N
D

'S

BARNES
& NOBLE

DICK'S

8

31,469 SF
TJ MAXX

10,200 SF

5

6,000 SF
AVENUE

2 2,
52

0
SF

K
E

R
B

Y
'S

K
O

N
E

Y
IS

LA
N

D

3 2,
88

0
SF

S
A

LL
Y

'S
B

E
A

U
TY

SU
PP

LY

110' 21' 24' 25' 50' 85' 70'

30
'

30
'

50' 40' 120' 35'-6" 25'

44'-1"

12'-1"

40' 64'-9"

79'-3"12
'-8

"

36'

13
0'

92
'

12
0'

12
4'

-6
"

4 2,
96

2
SF

M
U

S
IC

G
O

R
O

U
N

D

7

2,282 SF

9

1,500 SF

MEN'S WEARHOUSE AND TUX

10

1,293 SF

ORECK HOMECARE

14 1,
83

8
SF

G
A

M
E

ST
O

P

15 2,
42

1
SF

U
PS

S
TO

R
E

16

9,000 SF

DRESS BARN
WOMEN

33'-5"

17 4,
80

0
SF

19

27,400 SF

20

4,
67

5
SF

M
AT

TR
ES

S
D

IS
C

O
U

N
TE

R
S

21

3,
60

0
SF

P
A

N
E

R
A

BR
EA

D

FA
M

IL
Y

C
H

R
IS

TI
AN

B
O

O
K

S
TO

R
E

4,
79

2
SF

30
0B

4,
61

2
SF

30
0A

30
0C

4,
63

2
SF

37' 38'-5" 37'-2"

19'-10"

70
'-6

"

P
A

TI
O

AR
EA

12
0'

-3
"

E
LE

C

SHOPPES AT OAKLAND PLAZA

P
IZ

ZA
P

A
P

AL
IS

/
R

IO
W

R
A

P
S

O
F

TR
O

Y

PLANET
FITNESS

1,536 SF
SONIC

3,303 SF

1

14,579 SF
PIER 1

SHOPPES AT OAKLAND
PLAZA PYLON SIGN

OAKLAND PLAZA
PYLON SIGN

ELEC
MECH/

6
SHOE

CARNIVAL

GRAPHIC SCALE N
O

R
T

H

13

22,000 SF
MICHAEL'S
PROPOSED

NEW RECESSED
LOADING DOCK

ELEC. RM.

MICHAEL'S
CONSTRUCTION
STAGING AREA

AGENTS:
MANAGEMENT
LEASING &

PLAN

URBAN

RETAIL PROPERTIES, LLC.

SEPT. 2013

312-915-2000

LEASE

O
A

K
L

A
N

D
PL

A
Z

A
T

R
O

Y
,M

I
48

08
3

Chicago, Illinois 60601
Suite 2400
111 East Wacker Drive

MGlass
Highlight

MGlass
Highlight

MGlass
Highlight

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Textbox
Existing Height 
25'-5"

MGlass
Textbox
Existing Storefront Height 
23'-7"

MGlass
Textbox
Existing Storefront Height 
20'-3"

MGlass
Textbox
Existing Storefront Height 
17'-0"

MGlass
Textbox
Existing Storefront Height 
25'-9"

MGlass
Textbox
Suggested depth for TJ Maxx and Proposed Retail storefronts approximately 8'-0".
Final determination subject to engineering and architectural calculations.

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Typewriter
77'-0"

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Rectangle

MGlass
Typewriter
= Proposed Width of 35'-0" Storefront Height

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Typewriter
54'-0"

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Typewriter



N
O

R
T

H

14
 M

IL
E

 R
O

AD

0' 50' 200'

GRAPHIC SCALE

100'

JOHN R. ROAD

BANK
CHASE

BURGER
KING

MOBIL

V
IT

A
M

IN
S

H
O

P
P

E

K
IR

K
LA

N
D

'S

BARNES
& NOBLE

DICK'S

8

31,469 SF
TJ MAXX

6

10,200 SF

5

6,000 SF
AVENUE

2 2,
52

0 
S

F
K

E
R

B
Y

'S
 K

O
N

E
Y

 IS
LA

N
D

3 2,
88

0 
S

F
S

A
LL

Y
'S

 B
E

A
U

TY
 S

U
P

P
LY

110' 21' 24' 25' 50' 85' 70'

30
'

30
'

50' 40' 55' 50' 30' 20' 25'

44'-1"

12'-1"

40' 40' 24'-9"

79'-3"1
2'

-8
"

36'

13
0'

92
'

12
0'

10
0'

1
24

'-6
"

4 2,
96

2 
S

F
M

U
S

IC
 G

O
 R

O
U

N
D

7

2,282 SF

9

1,500 SF

MEN'S WEARHOUSE AND TUX

10

1,293 SF

ORECK HOMECARE

11 5,
50

0 
S

F

12 5,
00

0 
S

F

13 3,
00

0 
S

F
14 1,

83
8 

S
F

G
A

M
E

S
TO

P

15 2,
42

1 
S

F
U

P
S

 S
TO

R
E

16

9,000 SF

DRESS BARN
WOMEN

33'-5"

17 4,
80

0 
S

F

18 4,
41

7 
S

F

19

22,983 SF

20

4,
67

5 
S

F

M
A

TT
R

E
S

S
D

IS
C

O
U

N
TE

R
S

21

3,
60

0 
S

F
P

A
N

E
R

A
 B

R
E

A
D

FA
M

IL
Y

 C
H

R
IS

TI
A

N
B

O
O

K
S

TO
R

E

4,
79

2 
S

F

30
0B

4,
61

2 
S

F

30
0A

30
0C

4,
63

2 
S

F

37' 38'-5" 37'-2"

19'-10"

7
0'

-6
"

P
A

TI
O

 A
R

EA

1
20

'-3
"

E
LE

C

SHOPPES AT OAKLAND PLAZA

P
IZ

ZA
 P

A
P

A
LI

S
 /

R
IO

 W
R

A
P

S
 O

F 
TR

O
Y

P
A

LM
S

 M
ID

D
LE

PLANET
FITNESS

1,536 SF
SONIC

3,303 SF

1

14,579 SF
PIER 1

E
A

S
TE

R
N

 R
E

S
TA

U
R

A
N

T

SHOPPES AT OAKLAND
PLAZA PYLON SIGN

OAKLAND PLAZA
PYLON SIGN

ELEC
MECH/

AGENTS:
MANAGEMENT
LEASING &

PLAN

URBAN

RETAIL PROPERTIES, LLC.

JAN. 2013

312-915-2000

LEASE

O
A

K
L

A
N

D
 P

L
A

Z
A

T
R

O
Y

, M
I 

48
08

3

Chicago, Illinois 60601
Suite 2400
111 East Wacker Drive

(Gross Leasable Area)
Mall and Tenant Building

TOTAL MALL 161,794 SF
GLA



REDESIGNED PLOT PLAN



14
M

IL
E

R
O

AD

0' 50' 200'100'

JOHN R. ROAD

BANK
CHASE

BURGER
KING

MOBIL

V
IT

AM
IN

S
H

O
PP

E

K
IR

K
LA

N
D

'S

BARNES
& NOBLE

DICK'S

8

31,469 SF
TJ MAXX

10,200 SF

5

6,000 SF
AVENUE

2 2,
52

0
SF

K
E

R
B

Y
'S

K
O

N
E

Y
IS

LA
N

D

3 2,
88

0
SF

S
A

LL
Y

'S
B

E
A

U
TY

SU
PP

LY

110' 21' 24' 25' 50' 85' 70'

30
'

30
'

50' 40' 120' 35'-6" 25'

44'-1"

12'-1"

40' 64'-9"

79'-3"12
'-8

"

36'

13
0'

92
'

12
0'

12
4'

-6
"

4 2,
96

2
SF

M
U

S
IC

G
O

R
O

U
N

D

7

2,282 SF

9

1,500 SF

MEN'S WEARHOUSE AND TUX

10

1,293 SF

ORECK HOMECARE

14 1,
83

8
SF

G
A

M
E

ST
O

P

15 2,
42

1
SF

U
PS

S
TO

R
E

16

9,000 SF

DRESS BARN
WOMEN

33'-5"

17 4,
80

0
SF

19

27,400 SF

20

4,
67

5
SF

M
AT

TR
ES

S
D

IS
C

O
U

N
TE

R
S

21

3,
60

0
SF

P
A

N
E

R
A

BR
EA

D

FA
M

IL
Y

C
H

R
IS

TI
AN

B
O

O
K

S
TO

R
E

4,
79

2
SF

30
0B

4,
61

2
SF

30
0A

30
0C

4,
63

2
SF

37' 38'-5" 37'-2"

19'-10"

70
'-6

"

P
A

TI
O

AR
EA

12
0'

-3
"

E
LE

C

SHOPPES AT OAKLAND PLAZA

P
IZ

ZA
P

A
P

AL
IS

/
R

IO
W

R
A

P
S

O
F

TR
O

Y

PLANET
FITNESS

1,536 SF
SONIC

3,303 SF

1

14,579 SF
PIER 1

SHOPPES AT OAKLAND
PLAZA PYLON SIGN

OAKLAND PLAZA
PYLON SIGN

ELEC
MECH/

6
SHOE

CARNIVAL

GRAPHIC SCALE N
O

R
T

H

13

22,000 SF
MICHAEL'S
PROPOSED

NEW RECESSED
LOADING DOCK

ELEC. RM.

MICHAEL'S
CONSTRUCTION
STAGING AREA

AGENTS:
MANAGEMENT
LEASING &

PLAN

URBAN

RETAIL PROPERTIES, LLC.

SEPT. 2013

312-915-2000

LEASE

O
A

K
L

A
N

D
PL

A
Z

A
T

R
O

Y
,M

I
48

08
3

Chicago, Illinois 60601
Suite 2400
111 East Wacker Drive

MGlass
Highlight

MGlass
Highlight

MGlass
Highlight

MGlass
Typewriter

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line

MGlass
Line



SURVEY SHOWING SETBACKS 
FROM PROPERTY LINES





CURRENT PHOTOS







REDESIGNED
FAÇADE

cgornbein
Rectangle











4. HEARING OF CASES 
 

D. ZONING ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION, 4924 ROCHESTER – To interpret whether 
the proposed principal use of property constitutes a community center, a club, place of 
worship, or some other use under the City’s Zoning Ordinance. 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE SECTION: 15.04 (B and D) 

 











Revised September 10, 2013 

 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS APPLICATION 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETS THE THIRD TUESDAY OF EACH MONTH AT 7:30 
P.M. AT CITY HALL.  PLEASE FILE A COMPLETE APPLICATION AND FEE, AT LEAST 27 DAYS 
BEFORE THE MEETING DATE.   
 
 
 
1. ADDRESS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY:           
 
 
2. PROPERTY TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER(S):           

 
 
3. ZONING ORDINANCE SECTIONS RELATED TO THE REQUEST:          

 
 
4. HAVE THERE BEEN ANY PREVIOUS APPEALS INVOLVING THIS PROPERTY?   If yes, provide date(s) and  
 
 particulars:                

 
 

5. APPLICANT: 
 
 NAME               

 COMPANY              

 ADDRESS               

 CITY         STATE      ZIP    

 PHONE               

 E-MAIL               

AFFILIATION TO THE PROPERTY OWNER:            

 
 FEE $150.00 
http://troymi.gov/Government/Depa
rtments/CodeEnforcement.aspx  

CITY OF TROY PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
500 W. BIG BEAVER ROAD 
TROY, MICHIGAN  48084  
PHONE:  248- 524-3364 
E-MAIL:  evanspm@troymi.gov  
 

http://troymi.gov/Government/Departments/CodeEnforcement.aspx�
http://troymi.gov/Government/Departments/CodeEnforcement.aspx�
mailto:evanspm@troymi.gov�


Revised September 10, 2013 

 
6. PROPERTY OWNER: 

 
 NAME               

 COMPANY              

 ADDRESS               

 CITY         STATE      ZIP    

 TELEPHONE               

 E-MAIL               

 
 
The undersigned hereby declares under penalty of perjury that the contents of this application are true to the 
best of my (our) knowledge, information and belief. 
 
The applicant accepts all responsibility for all of the measurements and dimensions contained within this 
application, attachments and/or plans, and the applicant releases the City of Troy and its employees, officers, 
and consultants from any responsibility or liability with respect thereto. 
 
 
I, _________________________________(APPLICANT) HEREBY DEPOSE AND SAY THAT ALL THE ABOVE 
STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THE INFORMATION SUBMITTED ARE TRUE AND CORRECT AND GIVE 
PERMISSION FOR THE BOARD MEMBERS AND CITY STAFF TO ENTER THE PROPERTY TO ASCERTAIN 
PRESENT CONDITIONS. 
 
 
APPLICANT SIGNATURE    DATE     

PRINT NAME:           

 

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE         DATE     

PRINT NAME:           

 

Failure of the applicant or their authorized representative to appear before the Board as scheduled shall be cause 
for denial or dismissal of the case with no refund of fees.  If the person appearing before the Board is not the 
applicant or property owner, signed permission must be presented to the Board.   
 
The applicant will be notified of the time and date of the hearing by first class mail. 

 



   
 

 
 
DATE: November 26, 2013 
 
TO: Zoning Board of Appeals 
 
FROM: Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
 R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: INTERPRETATION OF ZONING ORDINANCE – 4924 Rochester Road 
 
 
Introduction 
 
The Zoning Administrator has requested that the Zoning Board of Appeals make an 
interpretation of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance.  Specifically, the Board is being asked to 
interpret whether the proposed principal use of 4924 Rochester Road constitutes a community 
center, place of worship, or some other use under the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  Section 15.04 
(B & D) of the Zoning Ordinance gives the Zoning Board of Appeals the authority to interpret 
Zoning Ordinance provisions. 
 
Background 
 
Dr. Nural Amin, representing the ADAM Community Center, requested zoning approval for a 
proposed community center at 4924 Rochester Road.  The vacant building was the site of the 
former Marinelli’s Restaurant. 
 
The subject property is classified as Neighborhood Node in the Master Plan.  The site is zoned 
NN Neighborhood Node “L”.  On October 2, 2013, based on floor plans and supporting 
documentation provided by Dr. Amin, City Administration determined the proposed use was 
permitted by right in the NN Node L district.   
 
Since the determination, City Administration has received information from Troy residents about 
the proposed use, and these residents challenge the community center zoning classification.  
Based on this information, the City Manager (acting as Zoning Administrator) requests that the 
Zoning Board of Appeals interpret whether the proposed use constitutes a place of worship, a 
club or some other use under the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  Section 15.04.D of the City of Troy 
Zoning Ordinance provides the authority for the Zoning Board of Appeals to interpret the Zoning 
Ordinance.  
 
Additional background information is included in the Attachments, a summary of which is 
included on the following page. 
 
 
 



   
 

Attachments: 
 
Attachment A: Maps 
 
Attachment B: City of Troy Master Plan (excerpt) 
 
Attachment C: City of Troy Zoning Ordinance (excerpts) 
 
Attachment D: Memo prepared for ZBA by Assistant to the City Attorney, dated November 19, 
2013 
 
Attachment E: Letter prepared by City Manager for Dr. Nural Amin, dated October 29, 2013 
 
Attachment F: Email from Director of Economic & Community Development sent to Dr. Amin 
with determination that proposed use is a community center, dated October 2, 2013 
 
Attachment G: Email response by Dr. Nural Amin to Assistant to the City Manager, dated 
September 30, 2013 
 
Attachment H: Email sent by Assistant to the City Manager to Dr. Nural Amin requesting 
clarification of statements made during meeting, dated September 27, 2013 
 
Attachment I: Email request by Planning Director to Dr. Nural Amin for clarification and 
additional information related to parking calculations, dated September 20, 2013 
 
Attachment J: Email response from Dr. Nural Amin to Planning Director describing proposed 
use, dated September 19, 2013 
 
Attachment K: Email request by Planning Director to Dr. Nural Amin for a written description of 
the proposed use, dated September 18, 2013 
 
 
 
G:\Planning Department Administration\Zoning Administration\4924 Rochester\ZBA Application - Interpretation\ZBA Memo 12 
17 2013.docx 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment A:  
Maps 



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

346

1:

Feet3460 173

evanspm
Oval



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

346

1:

Feet3460 173

evanspm
Typewritten Text
ZONED Neighborhood Node L

evanspm
Line



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment B:  
City of Troy Master Plan (excerpt) 



CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

The term “Future Land Use” brings to mind 
a prescription for isolated, parcel-by-
parcel land use classifi cations that permit 

the development of a very limited number of 
land uses. This model tends to  perpetuate the 
separation of land uses, even when it is not 
always the best option. This type of traditional 
land use planning was brought about in an 
age when zoning was in its infancy and land 
was readily available.  There was less concern 
about the conservation of natural resources, 
and economic factors took precedence.  While 
frequently eff ective, this kind of planning has 
had unintended consequences.  

As cities and regions have grown over the 

years, traditional land use plans have fostered 

sprawl in Southeast Michigan and impeded 

compact communities served by close 

proximity to jobs, schools, and community 

services.  At risk has been quality of life, an area 
which is critical to remaining competitive in 
the 21st Century, as discussed in detail in many 
Chapters of this Plan.

he term “Future Land Use” brings to mind

Future Land Use Categories
Single Family Residential 91
Neighborhood Nodes 93
High Density Residential 99
Big Beaver Road 101
Rochester Road 103
Maple Road 105
South John R Road 107
Northfield 109
Smart Zone 111
Automall 113
Transit Center 115
21st Century Industry 117
Recreation and Open Space 119
Public and Quasi-Public 119

87CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Land Patterns: 

City Design and Image

Today, Troy and many other communities 

have begun looking for new ways to improve 

quality of life by creating vibrant, mixed-use 

areas where jobs, great schools, opportunities 

for social interaction, excellent services and 

shopping, and high-quality neighborhoods 

exist in close proximity.  Techniques such 
as Planned Unit Development (PUD) have 
been developed for just this reason. PUDs  
demonstrate that diff erent land uses are 
compatible and supportive of each another. 

As a result, this Future Land Use Plan 

will expand on the concept of “villaging” 

established by Troy Vision 2020, and translate 

that concept into policies that manifest 

themselves on the Future Land Use Map. 

It will introduce the concept of the “Social 
Neighborhood” and describe how it is intended 
to interact with the “Economic Neighborhood.” 
It will describe the character and role of places 
like the Big Beaver Corridor and Oakland Mall, 
an alternative way to think about Maple and 
Rochester Roads, and the industrial areas of the 
City.

There are many traditional land use elements 
that should be maintained in Troy. Adherence 

to conventional approaches in all areas of the 

community will not allow the City to realize 

its vision.

A shortfall of traditional land use planning 
is the primary focus on land use, and the lack 
of attention toward physical form. The Troy 
Master Plan will incorporate city design and 
image as primary areas of focus.  This Chapter 
will establish future land use categories 
on which the Plan is based, and defi ne the 
urban design characteristics of established 
categories.



88 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Land Use and City Design

The Troy Future Land Use Map does not 
allocate specifi c uses on a parcel-by-
parcel basis, but represents a graphic 

illustration of the overall policies of this Plan, 

and describes the intended character of the 

various areas of the City.  The primary categories 
will be supported by urban design guidelines 
and, in certain cases, sub-area plans which 
provide additional detail with regard to the 
intended styles and patterns of development.  

The Future Land Use Plan of the City of Troy will 
be implemented through a variety of techniques. 
The most signifi cant of these tools is the 
application of Zoning Classifi cations consistent 
with the Plan. It is important to note, however, 
that the Future Land Use Map is a long-range 
guide, and is not a “Zoning Map” intended to 
indicate the geographic extent of all land use 
classifi cations or to enable all indicated uses to 
occur immediately.  The Future Land Use Map is 
included on the following page.

Neighborhoods are vital components of the 
City.  Historically, neighborhoods provide 

societal, educational, recreational and 

economic needs within a half-mile walking 

distance.  The Vision 2020 strategy establishes 
the idea of fostering “villages” within the City.  
Residents want to enjoy a personal sense of place 
which is best found at the neighborhood scale.  
For Troy, the ingredients are in place for classic 

walkable neighborhoods.  Major thoroughfares 
delineate square mile grid patterns.  Elementary 
and Middle Schools are centrally located within 
many of the neighborhoods.  The corners of most 
neighborhoods are developed with convenience 
retail and service businesses.         

The Master Plan recognizes that current 
lifestyles warrant modifying the walkable 
neighborhood concept.  Not every person will 
walk a half-mile to get to a store or school.  Most 

Elements of Great Streets and 
Neighborhoods
Great Streets

Accommodate many users with various modes • 
of transportation.
Connect smoothly with the rest of the street • 
network.
Encourage social interaction.• 
Allow for safe and pleasant pedestrian activity.• 
Have a unique sense of public space created • 
through physical elements.
Consider the scale and architecture of • 
surrounding building infrastructure.
Benefi ts from community involvement.• 
Refl ect the culture or history of the community.• 
Complement the visual qualities of the • 
community.
Utilize green and sustainable practices.• 

Great Neighborhoods

Consider the scale and architecture of the • 
building infrastructure.
Foster social interaction.• 
Enable multiple modes of transportation safely • 
and effi  ciently.
Are safe.• 
Are good stewards of the natural environment.• 
Refl ect the community’s character and have • 
unique characteristics that provide a sense of 
place.
Retain the community’s history.• 
Promote and protect air quality and • 
stewardship of natural resources.
Protect or enhance the local environment and • 
biodiversity.

Great Streets and Neighborhoods:

Implement LEED standards in construction and • 
neighborhood design.
Have planted street trees.• 
Reuse materials when possible.• 
Make recycling convenient.• 
Facilitate non-motorized and/or public • 
transportation.

Planning and Zoning News, October 2007

people will walk fi ve minutes, or about one 
quarter of a mile.  Typical comparison shopping 
for clothing, hardware and the like are measured 
by service radii related to drive times which 



CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

89CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

C
O

O
LI

D
G

E
 R

D

LI
V

E
R

N
O

IS
 R

D

14 MILE

D
E

Q
U

IN
D

R
E

 R
D

JO
H

N
 R

 R
D

A
D

A
M

S
 R

D

SQUARE LAKE RD

BIG BEAVER RD

WATTLES RD

MAPLE RD

S
T

E
P

H
E

N
S

O
N

 H
W

Y

C
R

O
O

K
S

 R
D

SOUTH BOULEVARD

LONG LAKE RD

R
O

C
H

E
S

T
E

R
 R

D

Basemap Source: Oakland County Planning

Plot Generation: 9.24.08

0 5,0002,500
Feet

I-75

Future Land Use

High Density Residential

Neighborhood Nodes

Big Beaver Road

Rochester Road

Northfield

Single Family Residential

Maple Road

The Smart Zone

Public and Quasi-Public

Automall

21st Century Industrial

The Transit Center

Section Number

Recreation and Open Space

South John R. Road



90 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

C
O

O
LI

D
G

E
 R

D

LI
V

E
R

N
O

IS
 R

D

14 MILE

D
E

Q
U

IN
D

R
E

 R
D

JO
H

N
 R

 R
D

A
D

A
M

S
 R

D

SQUARE LAKE RD

BIG BEAVER RD

WATTLES RD

MAPLE RD

S
T

E
P

H
E

N
S

O
N

 H
W

Y

C
R

O
O

K
S

 R
D

SOUTH BOULEVARD

LONG LAKE RD
R

O
C

H
E

S
T

E
R

 R
D

Basemap Source: Oakland County Planning

Plot Generation: 9.24.08

0 5,0002,500
Feet

Neighborhoods

Social Neighborhood

Single Family Residential: The Social Neighborhood

Neighborhood Nodes: The Economic Neighborhood

Recreation and Open Space: Extraordinary Amenities

Economic Neighborhood

Public and Quasi-Public: The Foundation of Troy's Neighborhoods

All Other Uses

Section Number

are not realistically walkable.  Furthermore, 
Michigan has cold winters that limit year-round 
walkability.  Troy’s neighborhoods, now and in 
the foreseeable future, will serve its residents 
in two roles: the Social Neighborhood and the 
Economic Neighborhood.

The Social and Economic Neighborhoods of the 
City are shown on this Neighborhoods Map.  The 
circles surrounding the Neighborhood Nodes 

and the circles within the Social Neighborhoods 
are meant to demonstrate a rough service area 
for each neighborhood.  While not necessarily 
precise, the circles are meant to demonstrate 
the basic relationship between the Social 
Neighborhood and the Economic Neighborhood.  
The circles are not meant to establish a formal 
land use category or policy in and of themselves, 
but rather to validate the planned uses at and 
around the Economic Nodes. 



93

CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Neighborhood Nodes: 

The Economic Neighborhood

Located at intersections of the City’s main • 
roads.
Work together with Social Neighborhoods to • 
create a more livable community.
Mixed use.• 
Provide neighborhood gathering places.• 
Accommodate the daily needs of residents.• 

Neighborhood Nodes are the concentrated, 

commercial and mixed-use centers situated 

at major intersections of Troy thoroughfares 

that serve as the center of the City’s Economic 

Neighborhoods.  The nodes are specifi cally 
identifi ed on pages 95 and 96.  Economic 
Neighborhoods are destinations created as 
“go to” places that take on a social role, serving 
both as a place to meet basic needs of the 
community and as 21st century village centers.  
The attributes of Economic Neighborhoods 
are described in more detail in the fi nal 
section of this Chapter, and the urban design 
characteristics of Neighborhood Nodes will be 
described in depth in Chapter 10.  The nodes 
will typically permit a mix of commercial, offi  ce, 
and high-density residential, although the 
predominant uses in any Neighborhood Node 
development must be in keeping with the 
node characteristics described on pages 95 and 

96.  Industrial uses will not be permitted in the 
Neighborhood Nodes. 

The Economic Neighborhoods of Troy also 
center on the square mile grid system.  Unlike 
the social neighborhood, the Economic 

Neighborhoods are centered on major road 

intersections where commercial and offi  ce 

development occurs.  When destinations are 
created, these nodes become a “go to” place 
and take on a social role.  Each of these nodes 
serves four quadrants of the overlapping social 
neighborhoods and has the ability to bring 
residents of four neighborhoods together.  

These Economic Neighborhood nodes 
are destinations that draw people, visually 
distinguished from the balance of corridor strips 
through greater density and scale.  Variation in 
building height will often be used to separate 
the node from the surrounding area, but will 
not be so extreme as to visually overpower 
abutting neighborhoods.  The separation of 
building heights at intersections with the 
“between” segments of corridors stimulates the 
visual concept of “pulsing” development and 
sets up a system of visual anchors.   

Moderately dense residential environments 
may be encouraged within some nodes to 
provide steady activity for longer periods of the 
day.  In these cases, residences may be mixed 
with offi  ces on upper fl oors or be developed 
immediately adjacent to the commercial areas.  
Connections between the commercial activity 
and residences must be directly and seamlessly 
integrated.  

During the course of the planning process, the 
Planning Commission closely analyzed the need 
for additional neighborhood nodes throughout 
the City.  The City will continue to consider 
the demand for additional nodes as part of 
subsequent plan revisions.

NEIGHBORHOOD NODES



94 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

DESIGN CONCEPT
These nodes are within a fi fteen • 
minute walking distance of residential 
neighborhoods to permit alternative modes 
of transportation.  

Development will be denser and taller than • 
the surrounding area, encouraging visual 
prominence to signal a gathering space.

Nodes should be generally confi ned to a • 
1,000 foot radius from a major intersection.

The nodes provide uses and spaces that • 
attract and welcome neighborhood 
residents.  

SITE DESIGN ATTRIBUTES
Buildings should be separated from the • 
right-of-way line by a landscaped greenbelt, 
one lane of off -street parking or a pedestrian 
walk, or a combination of these.  

Primary parking areas will be located within • 
rear or interior side yards.

Off -street parking should be screened from • 
the public right-of-way by a knee wall or low 
decorative fence with a hedge of plantings.

Walks will connect adjacent developments • 
and the public sidewalks.

Well-defi ned crosswalks with timed • 
signalization will permit safe crossings.

Flexible use of space allowing modest • 
outdoor gathering spaces, such as plazas, 
will be encouraged.

BUILDING DESIGN ATTRIBUTES
Buildings should be between two and three • 
stories, although one–story structures 
accommodating gas stations or other 
special situations may be permitted.  

One-story buildings should have a minimum • 
exterior height of sixteen feet.

A ground level story should have a • 

minimum height of twelve feet from 
fi nished fl oor to fi nished ceiling.  

Facades facing major thoroughfares will • 
be treated as fronts and should have a 
minimum of half transparent glass and 
special architectural design treatments.  

Fenestration (the arrangement of windows • 
and doors) should be highlighted through 
the use of awnings, overhangs or trim 
detailing.  

Lighting will be carefully managed so as not • 
to encroach on adjacent residential areas.

The following pages contain a table 
describing the primary intended uses and 

character of the Neighborhood Nodes designated 
on the Future Land Use Map.  Individual Nodes are 
numbered and identifi ed on the Economic Nodes 

Map following the table.



95

CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Node/Intersection Primary Uses and Character

A 14 Mile and 
Dequindre Road

Non-residential uses catering to the day-to-day needs of the workforce in the 
surrounding industrial area.  Restaurants and convenience needs integrated with 
banks and other service uses in compact developments would suit the needs of this 
area.

B Maple Road and 
Dequindre Road

The unique neighborhood node is home to a collection of uses serving the local 
Polish population.  Uses complementary to the cultural center and bank which help 
this area serve as a gathering place and focus area for the neighborhood could 
include limited housing, service uses, or specialty retail and dining.

C John R. Road and 
Maple Road

The node would best serve the area with a predominantly commercial mix of uses 
catering to the immediate residential area coming and going from their homes. The 
node should serve as a transition to the more intense commercial development to 
the south.

D Big Beaver Road and 
Dequindre Road

This area should be a high-intensity, high-density, compact area that serves as a 
notable entry point to the community.  Development may include residential, retail, 
office, and service-oriented uses, but should be designed to create a very noticeable 
“gateway” into Troy with its complex, high-density, mixed-use character.

E Wattles Road and 
Dequindre Road

The predominant use in this node should be offices, both medical and professional.  
Limited commercial service uses designed to complement the main focus of the 
area as an office node serving this area of the City may also be permissible, if clearly 
secondary to the primary office character of the area.

F John R Road and 
Wattles Road

This node may include all uses from high-density residential in combination with 
restaurants, limited office, and retail.  Development at this intersection should include 
at least two of these uses in any one development, in order to better complement 
and strengthen the already mixed-use character of the node.

G Rochester Road and 
Wattles Road

A careful blend of commercial uses and office uses, effectively transitioned into the 
adjoining residential neighborhoods, should be the main uses at this intersection.  
Recent residential development in the area has taken pedestrian access to the 
intersection into consideration with effective pathways and sidewalks, and any new 
development at the intersection must continue this positive trend.

H Livernois Road and 
Wattles Road 

This lower-intensity area is characterized by single-family residential directly abutting 
the southwest corner of the intersection, and uses which generate only sporadic 
activity, such as churches and day care.  This node contains the Troy Museum and 
Historic Village. New development or redevelopment at this node must be especially 
considerate of the adjoining residential and low-intensity uses and should not 
include any retail or restaurant uses.  Office and other uses similar to the existing uses 
would likely provide the best combination here.

I Crooks Road and 
Wattles Road

Development at this location should be low-impact and provide a high benefit to 
the neighborhood using the least amount of land.  Compact, walkable mixed use 
development with a combination of uses serving the immediate surroundings would 
be an ideal fit.  Integrated compact development which would allow a user to park 
once and meet several daily needs would be a positive contribution to the node. The 
City also recognizes that expansion of the White Chapel Cemetery into the northeast 
corner of this node would be appropriate.

J Dequindre Road and 
Long Lake Road

Predominantly commercial, catering to both local needs and regional traffic, 
new development and redevelopment should be mostly commercial, identifying 
opportunities for small office mixed-use and variations in floor area to allow for 
a wide range of commercial types.  Pedestrian access to the adjoining area and 
effective screening should be primary areas of focus during the site design process.



96 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Node/Intersection Primary Uses and Character

K John R Road and 
Long Lake Road

Like Crooks Road and Wattles Road, compact, walkable mixed use development with 
a combination of uses serving the immediate surroundings would be an ideal fit.  
Integrated compact development which would allow a user to park once and meet 
several daily needs would be a positive contribution to the node.

L Rochester Road and 
Long Lake Road

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

M Livernois Road and 
Long Lake Road

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

N Dequindre Road and 
Square Lake Road

Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but redevelopment should include an 
integrated compact residential component, live/work units, or small office.  Service-
oriented use development in combination with new residential development would 
provide a unique setting here.

O John R Road and 
Square Lake Road

Near a known heron rookery, this node must be careful to respect this important 
natural resource.  New development or redevelopment should complement the 
churches and limited commercial uses in the area, and should incorporate above-
average landscaping, natural buffers, and conscientious site design to enhance the 
known natural features in the area.

P Rochester Road and 
Square Lake Road

Major commercial uses dominate and should continue to provide a foundation for 
this neighborhood node.  While uses in the area may cater to regional traffic, service 
uses, retail, and limited office uses designed to provide service to the immediate 
residential neighborhood should be incorporated into any new development or 
redevelopment plans.

Q Livernois Road and 
Square Lake Road

Development in this area should be especially considerate of the remaining historic 
asset of the neighborhood.  Adaptive use of existing historic structures must be 
considered before demolition or relocation of these resources.  Low-intensity uses 
working in conjunction with one another to form a central neighborhood village, 
walkable and accessible, would create an ideal complement to the predominantly 
residential surroundings.

R John R Road and 
South Boulevard

Small local commercial uses and office uses should be the focus of this node, to 
complement the large scale office development across the City’s boundary to the 
north, within the City of Rochester Hills.

S Rochester Road and 
South Boulevard

This neighborhood node provides a suitable mix of uses to cater to the daily needs 
of the immediate residential area, while also providing a unique opportunity for 
specialty retailers, compact walkable residential development, and small-scale office 
development in an integrated, mixed-use setting.

T Livernois Road and 
South Boulevard

Limited local commercial and housing for seniors in a dense development pattern 
should remain the primary focus of this neighborhood node.

U Crooks Road and 
South Boulevard

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

 

evanspm
Highlight

evanspm
Highlight



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment C:  
City of Troy Zoning Ordinance (excerpts) 



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

11

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 2
Definitions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

CLUB:  An organization and its premises catering exclusively to members and their guests 
for social intellectual, recreational, cultural, or athletic purposes not operated for profit.

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE:  Any vehicle used to generate income, and which, by 
appearance, is anything other than usual and customary personal family transportation.

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE: PICK-UP TRUCK:  A light truck, including one with an “extended 
cab” or a “crew cab”, manufactured with an open body, low sides, and a tailgate.

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE: PASSENGER/CARGO-STYLE VAN:  An enclosed truck 
manufactured with a unified body permitting unobstructed passenger movement 
throughout.

CONCEPT DEVELOPMENT PLAN (CDP):  The initial plan submitted for Planned Unit 
Development approval in accordance with Article 11.  The Concept Development 
Plan describes the overall design of the project and its buildings and requires legislative 
approval.  Considered in tandem with a development agreement, approval of a 
Concept Development Plan by City Council also reclassifies the property as PUD on the 
Zoning District Map.

CONDOMINIUM PROJECT, CONVENTIONAL:  A development in which ownership interest 
is divided under the authority of the Condominium Act (P.A. 59 of 1978, as amended) 
and in which the condominium unit consists primarily of the dwelling or other principal 
structure and most of the land in the development is part of the general common area.

CONDOMINIUM, GENERAL COMMON ELEMENTS:  Portions of the condominium 
development owned and maintained by the condominium association, as defined in 
the Condominium Act (P.A. 59 of 1978, as amended).

CONDOMINIUM, LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS: Portions of the condominium 
development other than the condominium unit reserved for the exclusive use of 
less than all of the co-owners of the condominium development, as defined by the 
Condominium Act (P.A. 59 of 1978, as amended).

CONDOMINIUM, MASTER DEED:  The condominium document recording the 
condominium project to which are attached as exhibits and incorporated by reference 
the bylaws for the project and including those items required in Section 8 of the 
Condominium Act, P.A. 59 or 1978, as amended.

CONDOMINIUM PROJECT, SITE:  A development in which ownership is divided under 
the authority of the Condominium Act, P.A. 59 of 1978, as amended, and in which the 
condominium unit consists of a building site, with or without structures, which along with 
associated limited common area elements, constitutes the equivalent of a lot.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

24

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 2
Definitions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

OPEN AIR BUSINESS:  A permanent business including the sales and/or display of retail 
merchandise or services outside of a permanent structure.

OPEN SPACE:  A parcel or area of land that is intended to provide light and air, and is 
designed for resource protection, aesthetic, or recreational purposes.  Open space uses 
may include, but are not limited to lawns, decorative plantings, walkways, active and 
passive recreation areas, land use buffers, playgrounds, fountains, woodlands, wetlands 
and bio-retention facilities.  Open space shall not include streets, driveways, parking lots, 
or other surfaces designed or intended for vehicular traffic.

OPEN SPACE, COMMON:  Open space within or related to a development, not in 
individually owned lots, which is designed for and dedicated to the common use or 
enjoyment of the residents of the development or general public.

OUTDOOR COMMERCIAL RECREATION:  An enterprise conducted primarily outdoors, 
which receives a fee in return for the provision of some recreational activity or facility.  
Such activities and facilities include, but are not limited to soccer, baseball, football, or 
other athletic fields, outdoor miniature golf courses and driving ranges, tennis, basketball 
or other athletic courts, and other similar facilities or activities.

OPERATOR:  Includes the owner, licensee, manager, or person in charge of any 
premises.

PARKING SPACE:  An area of definite length and width, said area shall be exclusive of 
drives, aisles, or entrances giving access thereto, and shall be fully accessible for the 
storage or parking of permitted vehicles.

PASSIVE SOLAR ENERGY STRUCTURE:  A structure which uses natural and architectural 
components to collect and store solar energy without using external mechanical 
energy.

PERFORMANCE STUDIO:  A building or a portion of a building where the principal use of 
the space is the provision of instruction in the various arts, including but not limited to 
dance, theater, music, and singing. This shall not preclude student performances.

PERFORMANCE THEATER:  A building or portion of a building where the principal use of 
the space is dramatic, dance, or musical performances or similar activities, in front of 
an audience, including performances on film, television, music video, or multimedia.  
Performance theaters shall include theaters, assembly halls, concert halls or similar 
places of assembly.

PERSON:  An individual, firm, association, proprietorship, organization, partnership, trust, 
corporation, limited liability company, or other entity.

PLACES OF ASSEMBLY:  Unless otherwise identified and defined by this Ordinance, 
“places of assembly” means any building, structure, and/or grounds where groups of 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

25

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 2
Definitions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

more than twenty (20) people meet or are assembled.  Places of assembly shall include, 
but are not limited to auditoriums, lecture halls, stadiums, sports arenas, convention 
spaces, and other similar facilities.

PLACES OF WORSHIP:   A site used for or intended for the regular assembly of persons for 
the conducting of religious services and accessory uses therewith.

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD):  A development consisting of a combination of 
land uses in which the specific development configuration and use allocation is based 
upon a comprehensive physical plan meeting the requirements of this Ordinance.

PLANNING COMMISSION:  The Planning Commission of the City of Troy.

PLANNING DIRECTOR: The chief administrator of the City of Troy Planning Department.

PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (PDP):  The second step in the review process for 
a Planned Unit Development.  The PDP includes specific information concerning the 
phasing and design of detailed elements within the PUD.

PRINCIPAL USE:  The principal use to which the premises are devoted and the principal 
purpose for which the premises exists.  Commonly referred to as “main use”.

PRODUCTION FACILITY, MULTIMEDIA: A facility for creating, recording, editing, or 
producing multimedia content, in any digital media format, film or videotape.  Such 
activities shall include, but not be limited to, motion pictures, television series or specials, 
commercials, music videos, sound recordings, digital animation, and video games.

PUBLIC UTILITY:  Any person, firm, or corporation, municipal department, board or 
commission duly authorized to furnish and furnishing under federal, state, or municipal 
regulations to the public: gas, steam, electricity, sewage disposal, communication, 
telegraph, transportation or water.

RECREATION VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT:  Vehicles and equipment designed to be used 
for travel, recreation, and vacation use or periodical and occasional family recreation 
and vacation use, and may or may not be used as a temporary dwelling.  Recreational 
vehicles shall include, but are not limited to boats and boat trailers, snowmobiles, trail 
cycles, all-terrain vehicles, travel trailers, camp trailers, tent trailers, motor homes, utility 
trailers, floats and rafts and similar equipment, and trailers, cases, and boxes used for 
transporting recreational equipment.

RECREATIONAL FACILITY, COMMERCIAL:  A recreation facility operated as a business 
and open to the public for a fee.

REGULATING PLAN:  A plan which dictates building forms and uses allowed on every 
property within an area regulated by a form based code.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

27

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 2
Definitions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

SENIOR HOUSING:  An institution other than a hospital or hotel, which provides housing 
or room and board to non-transient persons primarily sixty (60) years of age or older.  
Housing for seniors may include: 

A. INDEPENDENT LIVING:  A multiple-family housing form with full facilities for self-
sufficiency in each individual dwelling unit.

B. CONGREGATE CARE:  A dependent elderly housing facility with cooking facilities 
within the unit, but with a central dining service option.  Limited medical care is 
available. 

C. ASSISTED LIVING:  A dependent elderly housing facility without cooking facilities and 
only central dining service.  Limited medical care is available. 

D. CONVALESCENT HOME:  A state licensed medical establishment providing 
accommodation and care for aged or infirmed persons, or for those who are bedfast 
or needing considerable nursing care, but not including facilities for the treatment 
of sickness or injuries or facilities for surgical care.  Commonly referred to as “nursing 
home”.

SETBACK, REQUIRED:  The distance required to meet the front, side, or rear yard open 
space requirements of this Ordinance.

SHOPPING CENTER:  A minimum of three (3) commercial or service establishments within 
a single building served by a common parking area.

SIGN:  Any structure or wall or other object used for the display of any message, and 
includes but is not limited to any bill, poster, placard, handbill, flyer, painting, balloon, 
streamer, or other similar object in any form whichever, which contains printed or written 
matter in words, symbols, or pictures, or in any combination thereof attached to or 
affixed to the ground or any structure, as defined and regulated by Chapter 85, Signs, of 
the City of Troy Code of Ordinances.  

SOLAR ACCESS EASEMENT:  A right, expressed as an easement, covenant, condition or 
other property interest in any deed or other instrument executed by or on behalf of any 
landowner, which protects the solar skyspace of an actual, proposed or designated 
solar energy collector at a described location by forbidding or limiting activities, 
land uses, structures and/or trees that interfere with access to solar energy.  The solar 
skyspace must be described as the three (3) dimensional spaces in which obstruction is 
prohibited or limited.  Any property owner may give or sell his right to access to sunlight.  
Such Solar Access Easements shall be recorded and copies shall be kept on file with the 
Troy Clerk’s Department.

SOLAR COLLECTOR:  A device or combination of devices, structures, or parts thereof, 
that collects, transfers or transforms direct solar, radiant energy into thermal, chemical, 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

30

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 2
Definitions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

structure either (1) before the improvement or repair is started, or (2) if the structure 
has been damaged and is being restored, as before the damage occurred.  For the 
purpose of this definition, “substantial improvement” is considered to occur when the 
first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor or other structural part of the building occurs, 
whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the structure.  The term 
does not, however, include (1) any project for improvement of a structure to comply 
with existing State or local health, sanitary or safety code specifications which are solely 
necessary to assure safe living conditions, or, (2) any alteration of a structure listed on 
the National Register of Historic Places or a State Inventory of Historic Places.

TEMPORARY METEOROLOGICAL TOWERS (TMT):  A tower of monopole design which is 
designed and built to hold wind resource testing devices such as anemometers, wind 
vanes and accessory equipment and which is to remain in place for no more than 
eighteen (18) months. 

TEMPORARY USE OR BUILDING:  A use or building permitted to exist during periods of 
construction of the main building or use, or for special events.

UNDEVELOPED STATE:  A natural state preserving natural resources, natural features, 
or scenic or wooded conditions; open space; or a similar use or condition.  Land in an 
undeveloped state does not include a golf course, but may include a recreational 
trail, picnic area, children’s play area, greenway, or linear park.  The term “greenway” 
shall mean a contiguous or linear open space, including habitats, wildlife corridors and 
trails that link parks, nature reserves, cultural features, or historic sites with each other for 
recreational or conservation purposes.

USE:  The purpose for which land or a building is arranged, designed or intended, or for 
which land or a building is or may be occupied.

VARIANCE:  The term ‘variance’ shall mean a modification of the literal physical 
provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, which may be granted by the Zoning Board of 
Appeals in accordance with the authority bestowed upon that Board by the provisions 
of this Ordinance.

VEHICLE:  A piece of mechanical equipment used for transportation such as an 
automobile, truck, van, motorcycle and similar devices.

VEHICLE, ANTIQUE OR CLASSIC:  An automobile or other vehicle that is classified as 
historical or is eligible to be classified as historical by the State of Michigan, which is over 
twenty-six (26) years old, and which is owned as a collector’s item and used primarily for 
exhibition and educational purposes.

VEHICLE FILLING/MULTI-USE STATION:  A building or premises used primarily for the 
dispensing, sale, or offering for sale of motor fuels directly to users of motor vehicles; 
together with the sale of minor accessories and services for motor vehicles such as 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

32

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 2
Definitions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

telephone devices and exchanges, micro-wave relay facilities, telephone transmission 
equipment building and commercial mobile radio service facilities.  Not included within 
this definition are:  citizen band radio facilities; short wave receiving facilities; amateur 
(ham) radio facilities; satellite dishes; and, governmental facilities which are subject to 
state or federal law or regulations which preempt municipal regulatory authority.  For 
purposes of this Ordinance, the following additional terms are defined: 

A. WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS ANTENNA (WCA):  Shall mean any antenna used for 
the transmission or reception of wireless communication signals excluding those used 
for dispatch communications by public emergency stations, ham radio antennas, 
and satellite antennas, those who receive video programming services via multi-
point distribution services which are forty (40) inches or less in diameter and those 
which receive television broadcast signals.  Antenna may be affixed to existing 
structures, such as existing buildings, towers, water tanks, utility poles, and the like.  A 
wireless communication support structure proposed to be newly established shall not 
be included within this definition.

B. WIRELESS COMMUNICATION SUPPORT STRUCTURES:  Shall mean structures erected or 
modified to support wireless communication antennas.  Support structures within this 
definition include, but shall not be limited to, monopoles, lattice towers, light poles, 
wood poles and guyed towers, or other structures which appear to be something  
other than a mere support structure.

C. COLLOCATION:  Shall mean the location by two (2) or more wireless communication 
providers of wireless communication facilities on a common structure, tower, or 
building, with the view toward reducing the overall number of structures required to 
support wireless communications antennas within the community.

YARD:  The open spaces on the same lot with the main building, unoccupied and 
unobstructed from the ground upward except as otherwise provided in this Ordinance, 
and as defined in this Ordinance:
  
A. FRONT YARD:  An open space extending the full width of the lot, the depth of which 

is the minimum horizontal distance between the front lot line and the nearest line of 
the main building.

B. REAR YARD:  An open space extending the full width of the lot, the depth of which 
is the minimum horizontal distance between the rear lot line and the nearest line of 
the main building.  In the case of a corner lot, one of the non-front yards shall be 
considered a side yard; the other side shall be considered a rear yard. In the case of 
a corner lot, the rear yard shall not extend into the front yard.

C. SIDE YARD:  An open space between a main building and the side lot line, extending 
from the front yard to the rear yard, the width of which is the horizontal distance from 
the nearest point of the side lot line to the nearest point of the main building. In the 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

33

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 2
Definitions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

case of a corner lot, one of the non-front yards shall be considered a side yard; the 
other side shall be considered a rear yard.

ZONING ADMINISTRATOR:  The official of the City of Troy charged with the administration 
of this Zoning Ordinance.

ZONING DISTRICT:  An area or areas within the incorporated area of the City of Troy 
within which regulations and requirements governing use, lot area, lot size, and other 
provisions are uniform.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

105

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

ARTICLE 5

FORM-BASED DISTRICTS

SECTION 5.01 GENERAL PURPOSE, INTENT, AND USE

A. The Zoning Ordinance regulates the intensity and use of development, which is 
appropriate in most parts of the City.  There are also areas within the City in which 
the Master Plan places greater emphasis on regulating urban form and character 
of development as well as use and intensity of use.

B. These regulations are based on two (2) significant factors:  site context and building 
form.  

 Site context is derived from existing and desired characteristics of the area where 
these regulations are applied.  Areas are distinguished from one another by their 
size and configuration of the site, street patterns, location, and intensity of use.  
Therefore, considering site context provides a customized approach to the inherent 
conditions of the areas where these regulations are applied.

 Building form addresses the manner in which buildings and structures relate to their 
lots, surrounding buildings, and street frontage.  Building form standards control 
height, placement, building configuration, parking location, and ground story 
activation applicable to the site context.

C. The general purpose of these regulations is as follows:

1. Ensure that development is of human scale, primarily pedestrian-oriented and 
designed to create attractive streetscapes and pedestrian spaces.

2. Promote infill development and redevelopment to expand the employment 
and economic base.

3. Promote mixed-use development in both a horizontal and vertical form.

4. Ensure reasonable transition between higher intensity development and 
adjacent neighborhoods.

5. Improve mobility options and reduce the need for on-site parking by 
encouraging alternative means of transportation.

D. Regulations are tailored to meet a more specific intent of each district.  These 
districts and intents are set forth elsewhere in this Article.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

106

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

E. The form-based districts use regulating plans, which rely on street and site types 
to determine allowable uses and building forms for a given property.  The steps to 
determine the regulations that apply to a specific property within a form-based 
district are as follows:

1. Find the site in question on the appropriate regulating plan map (Figures 
5.04.1, 5.05.1, and 5.06.1 for the Big Beaver District, Maple Road District, and 
Neighborhood Nodes Districts, respectively).

2. Identify the site type for the site in question.  Sites will be classified BB:A, BB:B, or 
BB:C for the Big Beaver District, MR:A or MR:B for the Maple Road District, or NN:A 
or NN:B for the Neighborhood Nodes Districts.

3. Identify the street type or types adjacent to the site in question.  Streets will be 
classified BB:A, BB:B, or BB:C for the Big Beaver District, MR:A or MR:B for the 
Maple Road District, or NN:A or NN:B for the Neighborhood Nodes Districts.

4. Consult the Use Groups and Building Forms Permitted tables for the District 
in which the site is located.  (Tables 5.04.C-1, and 5.04.C-2 for the Big Beaver 
District, 5.05.C-1, and 5.05.C-2 for the Maple Road District, and 5.06.C-1, and 
5.06.C-2 for the Neighborhood Nodes Districts, respectively).  The tables will 
identify if a use group or building form is permitted, permitted after special use 
approval, or not permitted for the site type and street type combination unique 
to the site in question.

5. Follow the regulations for the chosen building form when designing the 
development application.  Building form regulations are established in Tables 
5.03.B-1 through 5.03.B-6.

6. Follow the design standards unique to the District in which the site is located.  All 
three form-based districts have unique design standards.

7. Obtain site plan approval or special use approval for the chosen building form 
and use, as appropriate.

SECTION 5.02 APPLICABILITY AND ORGANIZATION

A. Applicability.

1. Any new use or expansion of existing use that requires site plan review shall 
comply with the requirements of this Article and other applicable requirements 
of this Ordinance.

2. The requirements of this Article shall not apply to:

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

107

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

a. Continuation of a permitted use within an existing structure.

b. Changes of use within existing structures that do not require increased parking.

c. Normal repair and maintenance of existing structures that do not increase its 
size or parking demand.

d. Continuation of a legal non-conforming use, building, and/or structure, in 
accordance with Article 14.

e. The expansion of a legal non-conforming use, building, and/or structure in a 
manner that does not increase its level of nonconformity, in accordance with 
Article 14.

B. Regulating Plans.  Each area of the City to which these standards apply shall be 
governed by a regulating plan that is specific to each area.  The regulating plan 
determines building form and allowable use for each property within a form-based 
district.

C. Authorized Use Groups.  Authorized land uses are organized by use groups.  
Authorized use groups, as set forth in Section 5.03.A, are specifically applied to each 
District based upon the regulating plan.

D. Building Form Standards.  Building form standards, set forth in Section 5.03.B, establish 
the parameters for building form, height, and placement, and are specifically 
applied to each District based upon the regulating plan.

E. Design Standards.  Design standards are established for each district and are 
supplementary to other requirements of the Ordinance. Generally, the design 
standards regulate parking, landscaping, and other site design requirements.

F. Modification of District Boundaries.  Any modification to the boundaries of any form-
based district shall require rezoning, in accordance with the provisions of Article 16, 
Amendments.

G. Modification of Regulating Plan.  Specific standards applied within each regulating 
plan are based upon the designation of site type and street type.  Any modification 
of site type or street type may be determined by the Zoning Administrator.  The 
Zoning Administrator shall consider the following in making a determination to modify 
a site type or street type designation:

1. The applicant’s property cannot be used for the purpose permitted in the form-
based district.

2. Area has been added to or deleted from the subject property in question, 
requiring the modification.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

108

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

3. The proposed modification and resulting development will not alter the essential 
character of the area.

4. The proposed modification meets the intent of the district.

5. Existing streets have been improved and/or new streets constructed that may 
result in the modification of a specific site type or street type.

SECTION 5.03 STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO ALL DISTRICTS

A. Authorized Use Groups.  

1. Authorized uses are categorized by use groups as set forth in Table 5.03-A-1.  Use 
groups generally contain similar types of uses in terms of function, character, 
and intensity.

2. Use groups are designated in locations within each district based on the 
regulating plan.  Use groups are classified in the following manner:

a. Permitted Use Groups.  These use groups are permitted as of right in the 
locations specified, and are depicted with the symbol P.

b. Permitted Use Groups in Upper Stories.  These use groups are permitted as of 
right in upper stories only in the location specified and are depicted with the 
symbol UP.

c. Special Use Groups.  These use groups are permitted after review and 
approval by the Planning Commission, in accordance with the procedures 
set forth in Article 9 and the standards in this Ordinance.  Use groups requiring 
special use approval are depicted with the symbol S.

d. Prohibited Use Groups.  These use groups are prohibited in the locations 
specified, and are depicted with the symbol NP.

e. Uses permitted in all locations within the District. Public parks and essential 
public services are permitted by right in all locations.

f. Similar Uses.  If a use is not listed but is similar to other uses within a use group, 
the Zoning Administrator may make the interpretation that the use is similar to 
other uses within a use group.

 The Zoning Administrator may also make the determination whether the use is 
permitted as of right, permitted in upper stories only, or permitted as a special 
use.  The Zoning Administrator may obtain a recommendation from the 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

109

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Planning Commission as to whether or not the proposed use is similar to a use 
permitted as of right, permitted in upper stories only, or permitted as a special 
use.

g. If a site is adjacent to two (2) different street types, the more intense street type 
shall control for the purpose of determining allowable use groups.

 
TABLE 5.03-A-1

USE GROUPS BY CATEGORY

PRINCIPAL USE
Use Group 1
Residential Uses:
One-Family dwellings
Two-Family dwellings
Use Group 2
Residential/Lodging Uses:
One-Family attached dwellings
Multiple-Family dwellings
Live/Work units
Senior assisted/independent living
Child care centers
Use Group 3
Office/Institution:
General office
Professional and medical office
Hospitals
Medical office
Primary/secondary schools (private)
Post-secondary schools
Places of worship
Data centers
Technology centers / Office research
Publicly owned/operated office and service facilities
Funeral homes
Veterinary clinics or hospitals
Use Group 4
Auto/Transportation Uses:
Vehicle sales
Vehicle service station
Vehicle repair station
Vehicle body repair
Vehicle wash

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

110

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Use Group 5
Retail, Entertainment, and Service Uses:
Lodging
Financial institutions
General retail
Retail, large-format
Shopping centers
Fitness, gymnastics, and exercise centers
Theatres and places of assembly
Indoor commercial recreation establishments
Restaurant
Personal services
Business services
Use Group 6
Miscellaneous Commercial Uses:
Building & lumber supply
Garden centers, nurseries
Outdoor commercial recreation
Indoor commercial recreation
Self-Storage
Commercial kennels / pet day care
Drive-through facilities
Use Group 7
Industrial Uses:
Contractor’s equipment storage
Food products
Commercial outdoor storage
Manufacturing, processing, etc.
Metal plating
Plastics
Printing
Tool & die, gauge & machine shops
Truck/trailer rental
Warehousing/wholesale
Experimental research & testing labs

B. Building Form Standards.

1. The form-based districts permit a series of potential building forms, dependant 
on the site’s location. The six building forms, set forth in Tables 5.03.B.1 through 6, 
are established in this section as follows:

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

111

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

a. Building Form A. Small, generally single purpose buildings for retail, office, 
restaurant, or service uses.  Typically situated in an out lot of a larger 
classification building form, or on a smaller, more remote site location within 
the district.

b. Building Form B. Smaller, multiple-tenant buildings for retail, restaurant, office, 
service, or residential uses.  This category also includes multiple-tenant center 
style development, although it requires a second story to encourage a mix 
of uses or higher-density projects than those conventionally associated with 
classic roadside retail shopping centers.

c. Building Form C. This category is primarily designed for attached residential 
or live-work residential units.  Townhouses and urban-style residential 
developments that are compatible with higher-density urban character are 
the primary buildings permitted under this building form.

d. Building Form D. This category includes multi-story, mixed-use developments 
with a residential component on upper floors and retail, office, service, 
or restaurant uses on the first and lower floors.  The category takes into 
consideration residential and commercial parking, access, and connectivity, 
and requires buildings that are between three (3) and six (6) stories, to 
complement the higher-intensity areas within the district.

e. Building Form E. This category provides an opportunity for large-format retail 
or entertainment uses within the district under specific conditions.  These 
buildings are over 20,000 square feet, but unlike classic large-format retail or 
entertainment uses, they directly abut the right-of-way, provide parking in the 
rear or side yards, and contribute to the street atmosphere by providing a 
consistent street front with other, more pedestrian-oriented projects.  They may 
be set back from the right-of-way, but only when they provide out-lots within 
the same project for category A, B, C, or D building forms on the same or on 
separate lots.

f. Building Form F. This category is designed for large-scale buildings of unlimited 
height which serve as anchors within the district.  These buildings function 
much like category E building forms, but with a minimum five (5) story height.  
They may incorporate a series of mixed uses, typically are supported by lesser-
classified building forms, and require complex solutions for parking and access.

2. Building forms are designated within each district location based on the 
regulating plan.  Building forms are classified in the following manner:

a. Permitted Building Forms.  These building forms are permitted as of right in the 
locations specified, and are depicted with the symbol P.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

112

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

b. Special Building Forms.  These building forms are permitted after review and 
approval by the Planning Commission, in accordance with the procedures 
set forth in Article 9 and the standards in this Ordinance.  Building Forms 
requiring special use approval are depicted with the symbol S.

c. Prohibited Building Forms.  These building forms are prohibited in the locations 
specified, and are depicted with the symbol NP.

d. Exceptions: For all building forms in all locations, awnings may project into the 
right-of-way beyond the required building line by up to 5 feet.

3. The regulating plan dictates the site type and street type for each individual 
property in the district.  Building forms are identified within each district as 
permitted, permitted subject to special use approval, or not permitted based 
upon the combination, the site type, and the street type of each property.

4. It a site is adjacent to two (2) different street types, the more intense street type 
shall control the purpose of determining allowable building forms.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

113

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

This page intentionally left blank

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

114

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Table 5.03.B.1
Building Form A

Building Form A: Small, generally single-purpose buildings for retail, office, restaurant, or service uses.  Typically situated in an out 
lot of a larger classification building form, or on a smaller, more remote site location within the district.

Height

Minimum
Stories 1 story

Feet 14 feet

Maximum
Stories 3 stories

Feet 45 feet

Ground story minimum Feet 14 feet

Placement

Front
Required building line1

10 feet.  75% of the building façade must meet the 
required building line, while up to 25% of the façade can 

be set back to allow for architectural consideration.

Minimum setback N/A

Side Minimum setback N/A (building may be placed up to the property line, but 
is not required to be)

Rear Minimum setback 30 feet

Lot

Required open space 30 percent

Lot coverage by all buildings N/A

Access and circulation

Driveways may access the site from any side, pedes-
trian pathways must be provided from the right-of-way, 
and cross access shall be provided in instances where 
a development is within an out lot of a higher classified 

building form.

Parking location

Parking shall be located in a side or rear yard; when 
located in a side yard and abutting the required build-
ing line adjacent the primary building, parking shall be 
screened with a minimum 30-inch masonry wall on the 
required building line, or within 5 feet of the required 
building line, provided that a landscape treatment is 

added between the wall and the required building line.
1 The Planning Commission may adjust the required building line to a maximum of 30 feet beyond the property line for projects 
incorporating a permanent space for an outdoor café, public space, or a cross access drive with an adjacent parcel.  Outdoor 
cafés or public spaces must be developed as part of the primary building and must incorporate a permanent wall or landscap-
ing area along the required building line.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

115

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Figure 5.03.B-1

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

116

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Table 5.03.B.2
Building Form B

Building Form B: Smaller, multiple-tenant buildings for retail, restaurant, office, service, or residential uses.  This category also in-
cludes multiple-tenant “strip mall” style development, although it requires a second story to encourage a mix of use.

Height

Minimum
Stories 2 stories

Feet 24 feet

Maximum
Stories 6 stories

Feet 72 feet

Ground story minimum Feet 14 feet

Placement

Front
Maximum setback 60 feet

Minimum setback N/A

Side Minimum setback N/A (building may be placed up to the property line, but is 
not required to be)

Rear Minimum setback 30 feet

Lot

Required open space 15 percent

Lot coverage by all buildings N/A

Access and circulation
Driveways may access the site from any side, pedestrian 
pathways must be provided from the right-of-way, and 

cross access shall be provided.

Parking location

Parking shall be located in any yard, however, only one 
row of parking and a maneuvering lane shall be permit-

ted in a front yard.  When parking is located in a side 
yard and abuts the required building line adjacent to a 

primary building that abuts the right-of-way, parking shall 
be screened with a minimum 30-inch masonry wall on the 
required building line, or with 5 feet of the required build-
ing line, provided that a landscape treatment is added 

between the wall and the required building line.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

117

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Figure 5.03.B-2

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

118

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Table 5.03.B.3
Building Form C

Building Form C: This category is primarily designed for attached residential or live/work residential units.  Townhouses and urban-
style residential developments that are compatible with the higher-density and more urban character of this area, as envisioned 
by the Big Beaver Corridor Study, are the primary buildings permitted under this building form.

Height

Minimum
Stories 2 stories

Feet N/A

Maximum
Stories 4 stories

Feet 55 feet

Ground story minimum Feet N/A

Placement

Front
Required building line1

10 feet.  75% of the building façade must meet the required 
building line, while up to 25% of the façade can be set 

back to allow for architectural consideration.

Minimum setback N/A

Side Minimum setback N/A (building may be placed up to the property line, but is 
not required to be)

Rear Minimum setback 30 feet

Lot

Required open space 15 percent

Lot coverage by all buildings 30 percent

Access and circulation

Driveways must access garages, if provided, integrated into 
buildings from the rear, in an alley configuration; detached 
garages or multi-garage structures are permitted only in a 
rear yard, or behind primary buildings in an alley; pedes-
trian pathways shall be provided from the right-of-way.

Parking location

Parking shall be located in a rear yard or in an alley be-
tween buildings; parking may also be provided in integrat-
ed garages or detached garages when accessed from an 
alley or rear yard; on-street parking within private roads in 

development is highly encouraged.
1 The Planning Commission may adjust the required building line to a maximum of 30 feet beyond the property line for projects 
incorporating a permanent front yard, enclosed space that shall incorporate a permanent wall or landscaping area along the 
required building line.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

119

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Figure 5.03.B-3

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

120

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Table 5.03.B.4
Building Form D

Building Form D: This category includes multi-story mixed-use developments with a residential component on upper floors and 
retail, office, service, or restaurant uses on the first or lower floors.  The category takes into consideration residential and com-
mercial parking, access, and connectivity, and requires buildings that are between 3 and 6 stories, to complement the higher-
intensity areas within the district.

Height

Minimum
Stories 3 stories

Feet 35 feet

Maximum
Stories 6 stories

Feet 66 feet

Ground story minimum Feet 14 feet

Placement

Front
Required building line1

10 feet.  75% of the building façade must meet the 
required building line, while up to 25% of the façade can 

be set back to allow for architectural consideration.

Minimum setback N/A

Side Minimum setback N/A (building may be placed up to the property line, 
but is not required to be)

Rear Minimum setback 40 feet

Lot

Required open space 15 percent

Lot coverage by all buildings 30 percent

Access and circulation

If a garage or below-grade parking is integrated into 
the building, it must be accessible from a side yard, 

rear yard, an alley, or from a side street in the case of 
a corner lot; access to surface parking for commercial 

traffic may be accessible from any direction; pedestrian 
pathways shall be provided from the right-of-way.

Parking location
Surface parking shall be located in a rear yard or side 

yard; parking for residential tenants may be provided in 
integrated garages or below-grade parking.

1 The Planning Commission may adjust the required building line to a maximum of 30 feet beyond the property line for proj-
ects incorporating a permanent space for an outdoor café, public space, or a cross access drive with an adjacent parcel.  
Outdoor cafés or public spaces shall be developed as part of the primary building and shall incorporate a permanent wall or 
landscaping area along the required building line.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

121

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Figure 5.03.B-4

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

122

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Building Form E
Building Form E: This category provides an opportunity for large-format retail or entertainment uses within the district under very 
specific conditions.  These buildings are over 20,000 square feet, but unlike classic large-format retail or entertainment uses, they 
directly abut the right-of-way, provide parking in the rear or side yards, and contribute to the street atmosphere by providing a 
consistent street front with other, more pedestrian-oriented projects.  They may be set back from the right-of-way, but only when 
they provide out-lots within the same project for category A, B, C, or D building forms on the same or on separate lots.

Height

Minimum
Stories 1 story

Feet 14 feet

Maximum
Stories N/A

Feet N/A

Ground story minimum Feet 14 feet

Placement

Front
Required building line1

10 feet.  75% of the building façade must meet the re-
quired building line, while up to 25% of the façade can be 

set back to allow for architectural consideration.

Minimum setback N/A

Side Minimum setback N/A (building may be placed up to the property line, but 
is not required to be)

Rear Minimum setback 40 feet

Lot

Required open space 15 percent

Minimum ground floor area 20,000 square feet

Lot coverage by all buildings 30 percent

Access and circulation

Driveways may access the site from any side, pedestrian 
pathways shall be provided from the right-of-way, and 

cross access shall be provided between category build-
ing forms and all lesser or equally classified building forms.

Parking location

Parking shall be located in a side or rear yard; when 
located in a side yard and abutting the required build-
ing line adjacent the primary building, parking shall be 
screened with a minimum 30-inch masonry wall on the 
required building line, or within 5 feet of the line with a 
landscape transition; in instances where outlots line the 
required building line, the required building line shall be 

waived for the category 5 building or buildings.
1 The Planning Commission may eliminate the required building line for projects incorporating a permanent series of outlots or 
smaller buildings in the A, B, C, or D building form categories, provided that those outlots and/or buildings make up the entire 
frontage of the overall development along the required building line, with the exception of access drives.  The required building 
line frontage minimum for the outlots and/or other building forms along the required building line shall apply for each individual 
outlot and/or other buildings forms along the required building line shall apply for each individual outlot and/or building.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

123

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Figure 5.03.B-5

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

124

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Table 5.03.B.6
Building Form F

Building Form F: This category is designed for large-scale buildings of unlimited height which serve as anchors within the district.  
These buildings function much like category E building forms, but with a minimum 5-story height.  They may incorporate a series 
of mixed uses, typically are supported by lesser-classified building forms, and require complex solutions for parking and access.

Height

Minimum
Stories 5 stories

Feet 55 feet

Maximum
Stories N/A

Feet N/A

Ground story minimum Feet 14 feet

Placement

Front
Required building line1

10 feet.  75% of the building façade must meet the 
required building line, while up to 25% of the façade can 

be set back to allow for architectural consideration.

Minimum setback N/A

Side Minimum setback N/A (building may be placed up to the property line, but 
is not required to be)

Rear Minimum setback 40 feet

Lot

Required open space N/A

Lot coverage by all buildings 30 percent

Access and circulation

If a garage or below-grade parking is integrated into the 
building, it shall be accessible from a side yard, rear yard, 
an alley, or from a side street in the case of a corner lot; 
access to surface parking for commercial traffic may be 
accessible from any direction; pedestrian pathways shall 

be provided from the right-of-way.

Parking location
Surface parking shall be located in a rear yard or side 

yard; parking for residential tenants may be provided in 
integrated garages or below-grade parking.

1 The Planning Commission may eliminate the required building line for projects incorporating a permanent series of outlots or 
smaller buildings in the A, B, C, or D building form categories, provided that those outlots and/or buildings make up the entire 
frontage of the overall development along the required building line, with the exception of access drives.  The required building 
line frontage minimum for the outlots and/or other building forms along the required building line shall apply for each individual 
outlot and/or building.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

125

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Figure 5.03.B-6

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

126

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

C. Landscaping in Form-Based Districts.

1. In addition to landscape requirements in Section 13.02, the following 
landscaping requirements shall apply:

a. Supplemental to Section 13.02.E.1.a, a minimum of fifteen percent (15%)  of 
the site area shall be comprised of landscape material.

b. Landscaping can consist of approved trees, shrubs, ground cover, vines, 
grasses, or other approved plant material.  Up to twenty-five percent (25%) 
of the required landscape area may be brink, stone, pavers, or other public 
plaza elements, but shall not include any parking area or required sidewalks.

c. Up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the required landscape area may be 
relieved through the Sustainable Design Option as outlined in Section 12.01.

SECTION 5.04 BIG BEAVER DISTRICT

A. Intent.  The Big Beaver (BB) District is intended to implement the policies set forth in 
the Big Beaver Corridor Study, Big Beaver Design Guidelines, and the City’s Master 
Plan.  These regulations are intended to promote a unified vision for transforming 
Big Beaver Road into a world-class destination focused on mixed-use development 
and increased land use intensity that is oriented as much to the needs of the 
pedestrian as to those of the automobile.  These regulations are also intended to:

1. Establish a development pattern in which new buildings and building 
modifications enhance the character of the existing built environment.

2. Orient building entrances and storefronts to the street to add visual interest, 
increase pedestrian traffic, and to reduce crime through increased surveillance.

3. Enhance a sense of place and contribute to the sustainability of the City.

4. Allow a pattern of development which will encourage transportation 
alternatives (walking, biking, and transit) to reduce automobile dependence 
and fuel consumption.

5. Add value to property along the Big Beaver Corridor.

B. Regulating Plan.

1. The Regulating Plan, as set forth in Figure 5.04.1, identifies allowable uses and 
permissible development within the District based on location.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

148

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

SECTION 5.06 NEIGHBORHOOD NODES DISTRICT

A. Intent.  The Neighborhood Nodes (NN) District is derived from the 2008 City of Troy 
Master Plan, which specifically identifies 21 specific intersections that play a critical 
role in the daily function, image, quality of life, and continued viability of the City.  
These nodes vary widely in character, but share common characteristics.

 Neighborhood Nodes are meant to serve as the core of the “economic 
neighborhoods” of Troy identified in the Master Plan.  Economic neighborhoods are 
destinations created as “go to” places that take on a social role, serving both as a 
place to meet basic needs of the community and as 21st century village centers, 
which can include integrated residential development.

 The Neighborhood Nodes should draw people, and should be visually distinguished 
from the surrounding area because of their greater intensity, density and design.  
Design techniques such as the variation of building height shall be encouraged 
by these regulations to help separate the Node from the surrounding area.  Such 
variations, however, will respect the adjacent neighborhoods and will not be so 
extreme as to visually overpower transitional or residential areas.  

 The success of the Neighborhood Nodes will play a critical role in the protection 
and cultivation of a high quality of life in Troy.

B. Regulating Plan.

1. The regulating plan, as set forth in Figure 5.06.1, identifies allowable uses and 
permissible development within the District based on location.

2. The regulating plan is based on two (2) factors:  Site Type and Street Type.  Site 
Types, as described in Section 5.06.B.3, are determined by lot size, location, and 
relationship to neighboring sites.  Street Types, as set forth in Section 5.06.B.4, 
recognize that street patterns within the City of Troy are established.  Streets 
range from primary corridors which carry a large volume of traffic to local streets 
which convey lower volumes of neighborhood traffic.

3. Site Types.  The regulating plan includes two (2) different site types, described as 
follows:

a. Site Type NN:A (high intensity, predominantly commercial, regionally visible) 
– These sites are predominantly located directly on major arterial roads, have 
larger acreage than their Site Type NN:B counterparts, and have established 
driveways, cross access, and larger square footage existing buildings with 
commercial uses.  The NN:A category is meant to accommodate the most 
ambitious redevelopment within the Nodes, as they typically have the prime 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

149

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

location and the size to allow for the most creative solutions for mixed use and 
node-specific development as outlined in the Master Plan.  

 While the established and intended character of each Node is distinct, the 
NN:A sites remain more similar to one another than do the NN:B sites, which 
are far more diverse in terms of use, acreage, and existing buildings.  While 
the NN:B sites are intended primarily to provide a transition between the Node 
and the adjacent residential areas, the NN:A sites are intended to house 
the destination retail, service, and employment uses that are central to the 
economic neighborhoods outlined by the Master Plan.  These NN:A sites may 
also often incorporate higher-density residential development on upper floors 
when possible, to incubate a compact, walkable environment at the Node 
and to diversity the City’s housing base.

b. Site Type NN:B (transitional smaller scale, employment based, mixed use) 
– Site Type NN:B consolidates the smaller, diverse sites at and around 
Nodes throughout the City.  They are located both in support of NN:A 
sites as transitional areas between more intense Nodes and the adjacent 
neighborhoods, and on their own, covering an entire Node, for those Nodes 
identified in the Master Plan as less intense, smaller scale Nodes with a direct 
connection to a residential area.  

 While not always present between NN:A sites and residential neighborhoods, 
when possible or preferable based on the parcel arrangement and existing 
circumstances, the NN:B category allows the Node to develop in a tiered 
manner, with more intense developments and uses permitted within the core 
of the Node, and less intense projects providing a buffer for the residential 
area.

 NN:B sites may contain a variety of uses, including residential at grade, in 
a higher-density arrangement, but may also include small scale retail and 
service or office uses.  A strong focus on transitional landscaping and a suitable 
connection to the neighboring residential areas is of critical concern for the 
NN:B sites, as they will often serve as the primary zone through which residents 
in a social neighborhood, as identified in the Master Plan, engage the Node, 
which serves as the core of the economic neighborhood.

4. Street Types.  The regulating plan includes two (2) different Street Types, described 
as follows:

a. Street Type NN:A (Arterials) – Category NN:A is meant for the main north-
south and east-west roads that intersect at each of the twenty-one (21) 
neighborhood nodes.  These roads are characterized by high traffic volumes 
and few individual residential curb cuts.  They accommodate the majority of 
the regional traffic through Troy, connect Troy with its adjacent communities, 
and serve as the primary framework for circulating throughout the City.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

150

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

 The intersections of these arterial roads present opportunities to cultivate 
highly visible, highly used areas that connect the various elements of the 
City, and bridge the gap between the residential portions of Troy with the 
major corridors, commercial areas, employment centers, and adjacent 
communities of Troy. 

 These roads will evolve over time to form “complete streets” which 
continue to accommodate regional traffic, but also cater to the emerging 
neighborhood nodes at their intersections.  These roads and intersections 
will have well-defined crosswalks, and will make use of a series of features 
intended to protect pedestrians by establishing equity between pedestrians 
and motorists through effective design.  Raised walks of high-quality 
materials, signage, landscaping, and pedestrian respite islands are several 
options that may be found within Category NN:A.

 Arterial Roads will also be characterized by strong landscaping designed 
to mitigate the negative impacts of high traffic volumes from adjacent 
residential areas which provide a unique and memorable visual character for 
the roadway.

b. Street Type NN:B (Local/Collector) – Category NN:B roads are those roads 
tying together smaller areas and connecting various parts of individual 
developments within the Nodes.  Either as public or private streets, NN:B 
streets will have a more varied and localized character than larger roads, 
depending on their context within predominantly office, retail, or residential 
areas.  

 They act as the connection between the Node and adjacent 
neighborhoods.  Very few examples of streets identified as NN:B streets exist 
in Troy, but they can also be developed as part of a larger project in the NN 
District, which may require new streets to be created to adequately and 
successfully implement the project.  It is likely that any new road in the NN 
District will be a Category NN:B road.

 Category NN:B roads will be very welcoming of non-motorized users and will 
have defined pedestrian rest areas and other amenities whenever possible.  
Their scale will be similar to that of a main road within a conventional 
subdivision or industrial park, and their width will be determined primarily 
on their purpose.  A Category NN:B road within an industrial area may be 
required to be wider than one in a residential area, although their purpose is 
similar.

 Category NN:B roads will have a much higher frequency of curb cuts than 
Category NN:A roads, and will often provide direct rear or side yard access 
to retail centers, office complexes, or high density residential projects.  

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

151

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Sufficient width should be retained on either side of the roadway whenever 
possible to allow for on-street parking to ensure that a variety of local parking 
options exist to directly serve the Nodes without requiring significant surface lots 
on private property.

C. Authorized Use Groups.  Authorized use groups, as set forth in Section 5.03.A and in 
Table 5.06.C-1, are applied to the site types and street types in Neighborhood Nodes 
District in Table 5.06.C-1.

D. Authorized Building Forms.  Authorized building forms, as set forth in Section 5.03.B 
and Table 5.06.C-2, is applied to the site types and street types in the Neighborhood 
Nodes District in Table 5.06.C-2.

E. Design Standards.  In addition to standards set forth in this Ordinance, all proposed 
development shall comply with the standards set forth herein.

1. Building Orientation and Entrance.

a. Primary Entrance.  The primary building entrance shall be clearly identifiable 
and useable and located in the front façade parallel to the street.  

b. Recessed Doorways.  Where the building entrance is located on or within five 
(5) feet of a lot line, doorways shall be recessed into the face of the building 
to provide a sense of entrance and to add variety to the streetscape. The 
entrance recess shall not be less than the width of the door(s) when opened 
outward.

c. Residential Dwellings.  Entrances for all residential dwellings shall be clearly 
defined by at least one (1) of the following:

i. Projecting or recessed entrance.  A recessed entrance is required if the 
building entrance is located on or within five (5) feet of the lot line.

ii. Stoop or enclosed or covered porch.

iii. Transom and/or side light window panels framing the door opening.

iv. Architectural trim or unique color treatments framing the door opening.

2. Ground Story Activation.

a. Transparency.

i. The first floors of all buildings shall be designed to encourage and 
complement pedestrian-scale activity and crime prevention techniques.  
It is intended that this be accomplished principally by the use of windows 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

152

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

and doors arranged so that active uses within the building are visible from 
or accessible to the street, and parking areas are visible to occupants of 
the building.  The first floor of any front façade facing a right-of-way shall 
be no less than fifty (50) percent windows and doors, and the minimum 
transparency for facades facing a side street, side yard, or parking area 
shall be no less than 30 percent of the façade.  The Planning Commission 
may waive this requirement for projects requiring site plan approval when 
an existing building with unique or historic attributes that help define the 
character of the node, as determined by the Planning Commission, is 
being reused.

ii. The minimum transparency requirement shall apply to all sides of a 
building that abut an open space, including a side yard, or public right-
of-way.  Transparency requirements shall not apply to sides which abut an 
alley.

iii. Windows for building sides shall be concentrated toward the front edge of 
the building, in locations most visible from an urban open space or public 
right-of-way.

b. Transparency Alternatives.  The following alternatives may be used singularly 
or in combination.  If used in combination, they may count toward no more 
than eighty (80) percent of the transparency requirement set forth in Section 
5.04 E-4.  The wall design alternative may count toward one hundred (100) 
percent of the side street transparency requirement, provided the entirety of 
the length and height of the wall is considered.

i. Wall Design.  Wall designs that provide visual interest and pedestrian scale 
may count toward no more than fifty (50) percent of primary street and 
fifty (50) percent of side street transparency requirements.  Wall designs 
must provide a minimum of three (3) of the following elements, occurring 
at intervals no greater than twenty-five (25) feet horizontally and ten (10) 
feet vertically:

(a) Expression of structural system and infill panels through change in plane 
not less than three (3) inches.

(b) System of horizontal and vertical scaling elements such as: belt course, 
string courses, cornice, pilasters.

(c) System of horizontal and vertical reveals not less than one (1) inch in 
width/depth.

(d) Variations in material module, pattern, and/or color.

(e) System of integrated architectural ornamentation.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

153

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

(f) Green screen or planter walls.

(g) Translucent, fritted, patterned, or colored glazing.

ii. Outdoor Dining/Seating.  Outdoor dining/seating located between the 
building and the primary street zone lot line may count toward no more 
than sixty (60) percent of the transparency requirement.  Outdoor dining/
seating located between the building and side street zone lot line may 
count toward no more than eighty (80) percent of the transparency 
requirement.

iii. Permanent Art.  Non-commercial art or graphic design of sufficient scale 
and orientation to be perceived from the public right-of-way and rendered 
in materials or media appropriate to an exterior, urban environment and 
permanently integrated into the building wall may count toward no more 
than forty (40) percent of the transparency requirement.

 
3. Transitional Features.

a. Transitional features are architectural elements, site features, or alterations to 
building massing that are used to provide a transition between higher intensity 
uses and low- or moderate-density residential areas.  These features assist in 
mitigating potential conflicts between those uses.  Transitional features are 
intended to be used in combination with landscape buffers or large setbacks.

b. Intensity.  A continuum of use intensity, where moderate intensity uses are sited 
between high-intensity uses and low-intensity uses, shall be developed for 
multi-building developments.  An example would be an office use between 
commercial and residential uses.

c. Height and Mass.  Building height and mass in the form of building step-backs, 
recess lines or other techniques shall be graduated so that structures with 
higher intensity uses are comparable in scale with adjacent structures of lower-
intensity uses.

d. Orientation.  Primary building facades shall be placed away from the 
residential use.

e. Architectural Features.  Similarly sized and patterned architectural features 
such as windows, doors, arcades, pilasters, cornices, wall offsets, building 
materials, and other building articulations included on the lower-intensity use 
shall be incorporated in the transitional features.

4. Site Access, Parking, and Loading.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

154

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

a. Required Parking.  Off-street parking shall be provided for a principal use, 
erected, altered, or expanded after the effective date of this Ordinance in 
accordance with the standards set forth in Article 13, Site Design Standards.

 The form-based districts are intended to encourage pedestrian- and transit-
friendly design and compact mixed-use developments.  Applicants are 
encouraged to consider the provisions for shared parking set forth in Section 
13.06.E, and flexibility in application set forth in Section 13.06.F.

b. Location.

i. When parking is located in a side yard (behind the front building line) but 
fronts on the required building line, no more than fifty (50) percent of the 
total site’s linear feet along the required building line or one hundred (100) 
feet, whichever is less, shall be occupied by parking.

ii. For a corner lot, shall be no more than fifty (50) percent of the site’s 
cumulative linear feet along the required building lines or one hundred 
(100) feet, whichever is less, shall be occupied by parking.  The building 
shall be located in the corner of the lot adjacent to the intersection.

iii. For a double frontage lot or a lot that has frontage on three (3) streets, the 
cumulative total of all frontages occupied by parking shall be no more 
than sixty-five (65) percent of the total site’s linear feet along a required 
building line or one hundred and twenty-five (125) feet, whichever is less.

iv. Where off-street parking is visible from a street, it should be screened in 
accordance with the standards set forth in Section 13.02.C.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

159

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Map 5.06.1: Neighborhood Node District Regulating Plan (Continued)

Node K Node L

Node M Node N

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

evanspm
Oval



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

162

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Table 5.06.C-1
Use Groups Permitted

Use Group
(Table 5.03-1)

Site Type NN:A Site Type NN:B

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

1
Residential NP NP NP NP

2
Residential/Lodging P1 P1 P P

3
Office/Institution P P P P

4
Auto/Transportation S S NP NP

5
Retail/Entertainment/

Service
P P P P

6
Misc. Commercial S S NP NP

7
Industrial NP NP NP NP

1 Permitted on upper floors only.

P - Permitted Use Groups
S - Special Use Approval Groups
NP - Prohibited Use Groups

Table 5.06.C-2
Building Forms Permitted

Building Forms
Site Type NN:A Site Type NN:B

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

Street Type NN:A
Arterials

Street Type NN:B
Local and Connectors

A: Small, single-purpose, 
out buildings P P P P

B: Small, multi-tenant 
commercial with mixed 

use
P P P P

C: Attached residential 
or live/work S S P P

D: Multi-story mixed use, 
medium density P P S S

E: Large format com-
mercial P S NP NP

F: Large format mixed-
use P S NP NP

P - Permitted Building Form
S - Special Approval Building Form
NP - Prohibited Building Form

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

109

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Planning Commission as to whether or not the proposed use is similar to a use 
permitted as of right, permitted in upper stories only, or permitted as a special 
use.

g. If a site is adjacent to two (2) different street types, the more intense street type 
shall control for the purpose of determining allowable use groups.

 
TABLE 5.03-A-1

USE GROUPS BY CATEGORY

PRINCIPAL USE
Use Group 1
Residential Uses:
One-Family dwellings
Two-Family dwellings
Use Group 2
Residential/Lodging Uses:
One-Family attached dwellings
Multiple-Family dwellings
Live/Work units
Senior assisted/independent living
Child care centers
Use Group 3
Office/Institution:
General office
Professional and medical office
Hospitals
Medical office
Primary/secondary schools (private)
Post-secondary schools
Places of worship
Data centers
Technology centers / Office research
Publicly owned/operated office and service facilities
Funeral homes
Veterinary clinics or hospitals
Use Group 4
Auto/Transportation Uses:
Vehicle sales
Vehicle service station
Vehicle repair station
Vehicle body repair
Vehicle wash

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
evanspm
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

110

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 5
Form-Based Districts

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

Use Group 5
Retail, Entertainment, and Service Uses:
Lodging
Financial institutions
General retail
Retail, large-format
Shopping centers
Fitness, gymnastics, and exercise centers
Theatres and places of assembly
Indoor commercial recreation establishments
Restaurant
Personal services
Business services
Use Group 6
Miscellaneous Commercial Uses:
Building & lumber supply
Garden centers, nurseries
Outdoor commercial recreation
Indoor commercial recreation
Self-Storage
Commercial kennels / pet day care
Drive-through facilities
Use Group 7
Industrial Uses:
Contractor’s equipment storage
Food products
Commercial outdoor storage
Manufacturing, processing, etc.
Metal plating
Plastics
Printing
Tool & die, gauge & machine shops
Truck/trailer rental
Warehousing/wholesale
Experimental research & testing labs

B. Building Form Standards.

1. The form-based districts permit a series of potential building forms, dependant 
on the site’s location. The six building forms, set forth in Tables 5.03.B.1 through 6, 
are established in this section as follows:

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
evanspm
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

180

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 6
Specific Use Provisions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

B. The Planning Commission may require that any or all of the property of a club 
facility be fenced to contain any debris or materials used or discarded on site and/
or to prevent unauthorized access to the grounds.

C. Loud speakers broadcasting voice or music outside of a building shall not be 
permitted within five hundred (500) feet of any residentially zoned property.

SECTION 6.20 PARKING STRUCTURE

A. Parking structures should be located behind buildings in locations that minimize 
visibility from public streets.  

B. When parking structures are located along public street frontages, they are subject 
to the following standards:

1. Building height and placement requirements for principal building shall be met.

2. A lining of retail, office, or residential use on the first floor with a useable depth of 
no less than twenty (20) feet shall be provided.

3. At least fifty percent (50%) of the upper floors facing a public street shall consist 
of exposed openings.  The openings shall be designed with one (1) or more 
treatments:

a. Planter boxes with living plants.

b. A rail or fence to give the appearance of a balcony.

c. Framing and mullions to give the appearance of large windows.

d. Architectural or artistic treatments.

SECTION 6.21 PLACES OF WORSHIP

A. All religious activities shall take place in a fully enclosed building except as may be 
approved by the City.

B. Facilities incidental to the main religious sanctuary must be used for church, 
worship, or religious education purposes, in a manner which is consistent with 
residential zoning and compatible with adjacent residential property.  Associated 
uses on the site such as recreation centers, retreat facilities, conference centers, 
schools convents, and others shall meet all requirements of this Ordinance for such 
uses.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

181

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 6
Specific Use Provisions

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

C. The site shall have frontage on and primary access to a major or minor arterial.

D. Buildings of greater than the maximum height allowed in the District in which a 
place of worship is located, may be allowed provided that the front, side and rear 
yards are increased one (1) foot for each foot of building height which exceeds the 
maximum height allowed.

E. Front, side and rear yard setbacks shall be a minimum of fifty (50) feet.

F. Parking shall not be permitted in the required yards adjacent to any public street 
or adjacent to any land zoned for residential purposes, other than that which is 
developed or committed for uses other than the construction of residential dwellings.  
Such yards shall be maintained as landscaped open space.

G. Traffic from events, including church worship services and other large assemblies, 
shall be controlled so as not to create congestion or unreasonable delays on the 
public street.  

SECTION 6.22 POST-SECONDARY SCHOOLS

A. All ingress and egress from said site shall be directly on to a major arterial.

B. No building shall be closer than eighty (80) feet to any property line that is 
residentially zoned or used.  In all other cases, front, side, and rear setbacks shall be a 
minimum of forty (40) feet.

C. Off-street parking areas shall be located at least fifty (50) feet from any residential 
property line.

D. Those buildings to be used for servicing or maintenance, such as heating plants, 
garages, and storage structures shall be screened from view of residentially zoned or 
used property, in accordance with the standards set forth in Section 13.02.B.

SECTION 6.23 PRIMARY/SECONDARY SCHOOLS

A. All outdoor play areas shall be located in the rear or side yards only and shall be 
enclosed with a durable fence six (6) feet in height, or four (4) feet in height if 
adjoining a right-of-way.

B. All required state and local licenses, charters, permits and similar approvals shall be 
issued prior to occupancy for any educational purposes and shall be maintained in 
good standing.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight



A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

305

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 15
Zoning Board of Appeals

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

ARTICLE 15

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS

SECTION 15.01 BOARD ESTABLISHED

A Zoning Board of Appeals is hereby established, in accordance with Act 110 of 
the Public Acts of 2006, as amended (MCL 125.3601 et. seq.), and in such a way 
that the objectives of this Zoning Ordinance shall be observed, public health, safety 
and welfare secured, and substantial justice done.  The Zoning Board of Appeals 
is established to ensure that the objectives of this Ordinance may be more fully 
and equitably achieved, that a means be provided for competent interpretation 
of this Ordinance, and that reasonable relief be provided in the application of this 
Ordinance. The BZA in existence at the time of the effective date of this ordinance 
shall continue to act as the ZBA in accordance with this Ordinance

SECTION 15.02 MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS

A. Membership.

1. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall consist of seven (7) permanent members 
and two (2) alternate members appointed by the City Council.  One (1) 
regular member shall be a member of the Planning Commission.  The Planning 
Commission representative shall not serve as Chair of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals.  The remaining members shall be selected from the electors of the City, 
and shall be representatives of the population distribution and of the various 
interests present in the City.

2. An employee or contractor of the City Council may not be a member or 
employee of the Zoning Board of Appeals.

3. The City Council shall appoint two (2) alternate members of the Zoning Board 
of Appeals who shall serve as a member of the Zoning Board of Appeals upon 
the call of the Chairperson when a regular member is absent from or unable to 
attend one (1) or more meetings.  An alternate member may also be called to 
serve in place of a member for the purpose of reaching a decision on a case 
in which the member has abstained for the reason of a conflict of interest.  The 
alternate member having been appointed shall serve on the case until a final 
decision has been made.  The alternate member shall have the same voting 
rights as a regular member of the Zoning Board of Appeals.  

4. The term of each permanent member shall be three (3) years, except for 
members serving because of their membership on the Planning Commission, 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

306

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 15
Zoning Board of Appeals

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

whose terms shall be limited to the time they are members of the Planning 
Commission.  A successor shall be appointed within one (1) month after the term 
of the preceding member has expired.  All vacancies for unexpired terms shall be 
filled for the remainder of the term.  

B. Removal.  Members of the Zoning Board of Appeals may be removed by the City 
Council for misfeasance, malfeasance or non-feasance in office upon written 
charges and after a due process hearing.  A member shall disclose when there is 
or may be a conflict of interest prior to the matter being considered by the Zoning 
Board or Appeals.  Failure of a member to disclose that there is or may be a conflict 
of interest to allow the Board to disqualify that member from a vote shall constitute 
malfeasance in office.

SECTION 15.03 RULES GOVERNING THE BOARD OF APPEALS 

A. Rules.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall adopt rules of procedures to govern its 
procedures.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall elect a Chairperson, and Vice-
Chairperson from its membership in accordance with adopted rules of procedure. 

B. Votes.  A concurring vote of a majority of the members of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall be necessary for any decision related to administrative review, 
interpretation and variances other than use variances.  Use variances shall require an 
affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members for approval.  A current member 
of the Zoning Board of Appeals who is also a current member of the Planning 
Commission shall not participate in a public hearing or vote on the same matter that 
the member voted on as a member of the Planning Commission.

C. Representation.  Any applicant may appear on their own behalf at a hearing or may 
be represented by an agent or attorney.

D. Time Limit.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall hear and decide upon all matters 
properly before it within a reasonable time.  The decision of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall be in the form of a resolution containing a full record of its findings and 
determinations in each case.  The time limit may be extended by written agreement 
between the applicant and the Zoning Board of Appeals.

E. Meetings and Record of Proceedings.  Meetings of the Zoning Board of Appeals shall 
be held at the call of the Chairperson and at such times as the Board in its rules and 
regulations might specify.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not conduct business 
unless a majority of the members of the Board are present.  The Board shall maintain 
a record of its proceedings, and all its official actions.  The vote of each member 
upon a question, or a member’s absence or abstention, shall be recorded into the 
minutes of the meeting, which shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk.

 

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf


A
uthority and

 
A

d
m

inistration
D

evelopm
ent 

Regulations
Processes and

 
Proced

ures
Supplem

ental D
esign 

Regulations
N

onconform
ity, 

A
ppeals,A

m
end

m
ents

307

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 15
Zoning Board of Appeals

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

SECTION 15.04 POWERS AND DUTIES OF zONING BOARD OF APPEALS

A. General.  The Zoning Board of Appeals has the power to act on matters as provided 
in this Ordinance and Act 110, of the Public Acts of 2006, as amended (MCL 125.3601 
et. seq.).  The specific powers of the Board are enumerated in the following Sections 
of this Article.

B. Delegated Duties.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall hear and decide upon the 
following:

1. Appeals of administrative decisions.

2. Requests for interpretation of the Zoning Ordinance or Zoning Map.

3. Requests for dimensional and other non-use variances.

4. Requests for use variances.

5. All matters upon which it is required to pass under this Ordinance.

C. Appeals of Administrative Decisions.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall hear and 
decide appeals where it is alleged there is error of law in any order, requirement, 
decision or determination made by an administrative official or body in the 
enforcement of this Ordinance.

1. Appeals shall be filed in writing within thirty (30) days of the written decision in 
question with the Zoning Administrator.  The appellant must have a property 
interest and standing to be recognized under the law to challenge the decision.  
The appellant shall submit a clear description of the order, requirement, decision, 
or determination for which the appeal is made and the grounds of the appeal.  
The appellant may be required by the Zoning Board of Appeals to submit 
additional information to clarify the appeal.  

2. Appeals may be taken by the person aggrieved or by any officer, department, 
board, agency, or bureau of the City or State governments.  In addition, a 
variance in the Zoning Ordinance may be applied for and granted under Section 
4 of the Uniform Condemnation Procedures Act, 1980 PA 87, MCL 213.54. 

3. An appeal stays all proceedings in the furtherance of the action appealed from, 
unless the Zoning Administrator certifies to the Zoning Board of Appeals that a stay 
would cause imminent peril to life and property.  In such case, proceedings shall 
not be stayed other than by a restraining order which may be granted by the 
Zoning Board of Appeals or by a court of record on application, on notice to the 
Zoning Administrator from whom the appeal is taken, and on due cause shown.

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

308

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 15
Zoning Board of Appeals

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

4. An administrative decision may be reversed, in whole or in part, or may be 
modified.  To that end, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall have all the powers of 
the Zoning Administrator from whom the appeal is taken.  In reaching its decision, 
the Zoning Board of Appeals shall only modify or reverse an administrative 
decision being appealed if one (1) or more of the following requirements are met:

a. The administrative decision was arbitrary or capricious.

b. The administrative decision was based on an erroneous finding of material 
fact.

c. The administrative decision constituted an abuse of discretion; or

d. The administrative decision was based on erroneous interpretation of the 
Zoning Ordinance or zoning law.

D. Interpretation. 

1. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall hear and decide requests for interpretation 
of this Ordinance or the Zoning Map, taking into consideration the intent and 
purpose of the Ordinance and the Master Plan.  In an interpretation of the 
Zoning Map, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be governed by the Rules of 
Interpretation set forth in Section 4.03, Interpretation of District Boundaries.  The 
Zoning Board of Appeals shall not have the power to alter or change zoning 
district boundaries, except where uncertainty exists as to the location of a 
boundary, land use classifications of any property, or Zoning Ordinance text.

2. A record shall be kept by the Zoning Board of Appeals of all decisions for 
interpretation of this Ordinance or Zoning Map.  The Zoning Board of Appeals may 
request the Planning Commission to initiate an Ordinance amendment that would 
correct or clarify the Ordinance.

E. Dimensional and Other Non-Use Variances.

1. Where a literal enforcement of the provisions of this ordinance would involve 
practical difficulties within the meaning of this Article, the Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall have the power to authorize such variation of the provisions of this 
Ordinance with such conditions and safeguards as it may determine as may be 
in harmony with the spirit of this Article and so that public safety and welfare be 
secured and substantial justice done.

2. Dimensional or other non-use variances shall not be granted by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals unless it can be determined that all of the following facts and 
conditions exist:

http://troymi.gov/Planning/ZoningMapDraftJan2011.pdf
savidantb
Highlight

savidantb
Highlight



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment D:  
Memo prepared for ZBA by Assistant to the City 
Attorney, dated November 19, 2013 







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment E:  
Letter prepared by City Manager for Dr. Nural Amin, 
dated October 29, 2013 



City Manager’s Office 
500 W. Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084   

(248) 524-3330                        

 
 
 

 
www.troymi.gov 

 

 

 ...Today The City of Tomorrow... 

October 28, 2013 
 
Dr. Md. Nural Amin 
NIMA GROUP, LLC 
4700 Rochester Road 
Troy, MI 48085 
 
RE: ADAM Community Center, 4924 Rochester Road, Troy MI 
 
Dear Dr. Md. Nural Amin: 
 
The proposed ADAM Community Center was given approval by City Administration on October 2, 2013, 
based on representations that the proposed use of the building was a community center - and not a place of 
worship - under the provisions of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance.  This determination was based on floor 
plans and supporting documentation provided by you.  There are significant zoning implications associated with 
this determination, since places of worship are required to be located at least 50 feet from abutting properties 
and have different parking requirements.  The existing building location does not meet the place of worship 
zoning thresholds. 
 
There has been significant dialogue between you and City Administration concerning the proposed use of the 
building, as follows:   
 

• September 18, 2013 – Request by Planning Director (via email) to Dr. Nural Amin for a written 
description of the proposed use. 

• September 19, 2013 - Dr. Nural Amin sent email response to Planning Director describing proposed use. 
• September 20, 2013 – Request by Planning Director (via email) to Dr. Nural Amin for clarification and 

additional information related to parking calculations.  
• September 27, 2013 – Director of Economic & Community Development, Planning Director and 

Assistant to the City Manager met in person with Dr. Nural Amin to discuss application. 
• September 27, 2013 – Assistant to the City Manager sent email to Dr. Nural Amin requesting 

clarification of statements made during the meeting. 
• September 30, 2013 – Dr. Nural Amin sent email response to Assistant to the City Manager 
• October 2, 2013 – Director of Economic & Community Development sent email to Dr. Amin with 

determination that proposed use is a community center.   
 
City Administration has also received information from Troy business owners and residents about the proposed 
use, challenging the community center zoning classification.  Based on this information and also the lack of 
definition of a community center, I believe that there is some ambiguity, and therefore as Zoning Administrator, 
I will be requesting that the Zoning Board of Appeals render an interpretation on this item.  Section 15.04.D of 
the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance provides the authority for the Zoning Board of Appeals to interpret the 
Zoning Ordinance. It is anticipated that having the Zoning Board of Appeals make the interpretation will 
eliminate the ambiguity and provide administrative finality.  Furthermore, considering this item in the public 
realm will provide transparency and opportunity for input by residents. 
 



City Manager’s Office 
500 W. Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084   

(248) 524-3330                        

 
 
 

 
www.troymi.gov 

 

 

 ...Today The City of Tomorrow... 

The City of Troy will forward this item to the Zoning Board of Appeals for interpretation at the December 17, 
2013 meeting.  Official notice of said meeting will be provided as per Section 3.04 of the City of Troy Zoning 
Ordinance.  
 
Although City Administration has not technically issued a stop work order, there is a risk in proceeding with 
any improvements until the Zoning Board of Appeals has made its decision.   If you proceed with any 
improvements to the property from this moment forward it is at your own risk. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
Zoning Administrator 
 
cc: Uddin Real Estate Holdings (owner), 2835 Tumbleweed, Troy, MI 48085 
 Yousaf Mohamed (contractor), 1250 Wyoming, Dearborn, MI 48120 
 Tim Ferasin, Alpha Home Décor, LLC 
 Lori Grigg-Bluhm, City Attorney 
   Steve Burns, SAFEbuilt 
 David Roberts, Troy Fire Department 
 Mark F Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
 R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
g/my documents/Kischnick/10.28.13 – ADAM Community Center Letter to Applicant 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment F:  
Email from Director of Economic & Community 
Development sent to Dr. Amin with determination that 
proposed use is a community center, dated October 2, 
2013 



From: Mark F Miller
To: "mnamin1@msn.com"
Cc: Brian M Kischnick; Brent Savidant; Sehrish Salah-Ud-Din; David J Roberts; Steve Burns; Glenn C Lapin
Subject: Adam Community Center 4924 Rochester Rd.
Date: Wednesday, October 02, 2013 11:53:55 AM
Attachments: Letter to City of Troy-1R.pdf

A1.Merill Church ACC Web page.pdf
A2.Merill Church.tiff
A4. Merrill  Church letter communications.pdf
A5.2170 Big Beaver Letters.pdf
A5. Inter-Faith Activiries.docx

Dear Dr. Md. Nurul Amin:
 
We want to thank you for taking extra time to meet with our staff and submitting
additional documentation.  We have reviewed your combined site plan and floor plan, for
the proposed ADAM Community Center located at 4924 Rochester Road.  The proposed
floor plan is consistent with a community center as the principal or main use of the site. 
The Zoning Ordinance permits accessory uses and are defined as: A use which is
supplemental and subordinate to the main use and used for purposes clearly incidental to
those of the main use.  Prayers may occur within the building.  There is community input
which indicates that the subject property is a place of worship as a the principal or main
use.  Our determination, given the floor plan and supporting documentation is that the
proposed Adam Community Center is not a place of worship (Zoning Ordinance term) or
mosque.  There is no dedicated worship space or dedicated Imam for the Community
Center. 
 
Please work with the Building, Planning and Fire Departments to gain occupancy for the
Community Center. 
 
If you have any questions please feel free to call or email.
 
Thank you.
 

Mark F. Miller
Director of Economic & Community Development
City Manager's  Office
City of Troy
500 W. Big Beaver
Troy MI 48084
248.524.3351 office direct
248.885.1889 wireless
 

 
 

mailto:/O=CITY OF TROY/OU=CITYOFTROY/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=MILLERMF
mailto:mnamin1@msn.com
mailto:B.Kischnick@troymi.gov
mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
mailto:SalahUdDinS@troymi.gov
mailto:robertsdj@troymi.gov
mailto:S.Burns@troymi.gov
mailto:G.Lapin@troymi.gov



	   1	  


Dear Sehrish, Mark, and Brent, 
 City  of Troy 
 9/30/23013 
 
Thank you for the email of clarifications.  I was out of the office after meeting with 
you at 9 AM- 9.50 AM in the City Manager’s office. So I could not reply.  In all of 
my meetings with the city officials from 7/29/2013 to 9/27/2013 I had repeated the 
same mission and vision.  There was not a single existing building drawing of the 
Restaurant and we prepared the drawing with a certified land surveyor to be 
accurate as possible. I am a seasoned professional Engineer.  My aim is to serve 
the community, which will ensure the law, ethics, morality, and safety.   
 At the start of the meeting I had started to describe some of the background 
information of (2170 Big- Beaver Road Building, 43700 Merrill Church building 
etc.) ADAM COMMUNITY CENTER, however Mr. Mark  F. Miller  requested that I 
discuss the current building, so I could not elaborate the subject.  
 
Our intended use has not been changed. What is presented in the drawing to you 
and to the Fire Department will be our intended use.  
 
In your e-mail of 9/27/13, you cited two links.  These links do not describe this 
project.   
 
 Link attachments: Link no. # 1 
This salatomatic is not connected to ADAMCC. It is an incorrect directory listing 
that we did not create.  Further, a review of our  facebook page shows community 
education through lectures from scholarly people, community and cultural 
activities. In addition, 
 
ADAM CC as a community Center has the following activities: 
 
It  is unique for i ts mission and vision to encourage youths and adults 
to engage and receive spiritual, intellectual, emotional, and physical 
benefits. This wil l  considerably reduce the rate of attr i t ion in North 
America. The center wil l  provide our youth with opportunit ies to 
resist peer pressure and avoiding part of a lost generation. ADAMCC 
contributes to be the source of a model community of diverse 
backgrounds, professions, and perspectives—all striving for a social 
change and transformation.  It  is founded to promote culture, 
education, and human values. It  wil l  provide excellence in serving 
the needs of the community regardless of race, ethnicity, and gender 
by the grace of God.  It  wil l  generate : 


• Awareness of religions and beliefs, teachings, practices and forms of 
expression, as well as of the influence of religion on individuals, 
families, communities and cultures. 


• Enable to develop respect and sensitivity to others, in particular those 
whose faith and beliefs are different from their own and to promote 







	   2	  


discernment to combat prejudice. 
• Endorse these principles as fundamentally important for all children 


and young people, for communities, and for the well being of our 
society. 


• Help to Establish a Center for increasing knowledge through proper 
research, education, training and guidance. 


• Valuing diversity, anti-racism, avoiding stereotype faiths, creating 
atmosphere for all in artistic, creative, recreational activities based on 
religious stories, people, places and incidences. 


 
Here are examples of some of the activities  that took place: 
 


1. Community Education and spiritual Training using some scholarly people: 
Attorneys (e.g. what a Community should know about US laws- Attorney 
Syed Mustafa),  


2. Physicians-New insights into the Medical Miracles in Quran – Dr. Erona 
Reza- University of Ottawa, Canada. 


3. Miracles in  Human Skeletal Design and Pathogenesis- Dr. Sima 
Rahman- University of Toledo. Other  speakers involve 
 


4.  Engineers, scientist, religious leaders, youth students, professionals and 
so on- several topics 


5. Where community members meet each other socially 
6.  Group activities for social support- helping the needy families, and 


disaster victims,  
7. Name of Some of the Speakers: Imam Faisal (Ground Zero Mosque) , 


Dr.Imam Achmat Salie ( Dir. of Islamic Studies-U D Mercy), Imam 
Mustafa Elturk ( IONA), Imam Abdul Latiff ( Alfala Mosque), Imam 
Mustafa Tolba (Quran Institute),  Prof. Dr. Mahmood Abdulhamid ( ICI, & 
GM), Mufti Hafez Rabbani ( IAGD), Dr. Akhlaque, Br. Khorram Wani 
( WSU), Dr.M.N.Amin, Shayk Ishtiaq Attari ( IAGD), Dr. Ramzi 
Mohammad ( WSU), Dr. Erona Reza, Br. Abderahman (WSU), 
M.Shahnoor Amin ( U of M), Br. Rahat Khan ( Chrysler), Moulana Hafiz 
Tofazzul Haque,Br. Harun Imtiaz ( Zytuna College), Imam Ebadur 
Rahman ( Zytuna), Dr. Sima Rahman ( Univ. of Toledo), Imam Sohel 
Mangera (Tawhid Center), Dr. Hafiz Asher Ali, ( Resident  Ohio) Dr. 
Morsy and Mohammad Qadi, Shayk Hamzah Maqbul, Br. Syed Mustafa 
(Attorney at Law), Imam Sami Kocak, Dr. Osman Master.. ( Physician)  
Prof. Dr. Saad Alam ( FIAT), Engr. Yousuf Mohammad (FORD). Please  
Refer topics of discussions at the end. 
 


Therefore ADAMCC is not a worship place but rather a place to guide our 
community with required training. We do not have a fixed salaried Imam /prayer 
leader to conduct any worship activities. 
 
Link#2. This is an outdated website for the ADAM COMMUNITY 
CENTER.  It  was created in 2009. We have not updated it.    We 







	   3	  


wanted to buy a large building with all  mixed activit ies. In course of 
t ime we have abandoned the idea because of price increase of real 
estate and financial restraint. For examples:  


• The 12,000-sft areas you had mentioned was our intention to buy that 
Church on sale in 2009, which has 30,000-sft building with 7.5 acre land 
(Sold US$ 1.1 million). The prayer area of that building with ~800 fixed 
seat was 12,000.0 sft. (Please Review attachment 1,2&3).  We could not 
buy it. We were outbid. 


• The Big- Beaver building: was for mixed use of 40,000sft (sold US $1.3 
million). We had meetings with Mr. Brent  Savident and Mr. Paull Evans  
of the Planning Dept. and we submitted our plan in 2010. We could not 
buy that building and were outbid. 


• Due, in part, to price constraints, we realized that a place of worship 
would have high maintenance costs. 


• We realized a community center was needed more than a place of 
worship. 


 
The Building drawing that we have  submitted I on 9/23/2013 was for ADAM 
(father of all humanity) Community Center as this is the most needed one for our 
community rather than a worship place.   
In answer to your specific questions: 
 


Q: “Does it have prayer rooms? Are the 5 prayers going to be 
conducted here? “ 


We do not have a designated prayer room.  Any use for prayer is incidential.  
Because during any social activity, speech, discussion, some of the rooms such 
as reading rooms can be used as for prayer/meditation, prayer and meditation 
may occur.  . Moreover, Muslim prayers don't need designated rooms so during 
the time of meetings/or assembly; one may use any rooms or spots for meditation.  


As it is a community center very few people who live in the neighborhood will 
come different times to do social and cultural activities as noted above. These 
types of activities are being taking place in other community centers in this city. 
Even in Troy Community Center we had rented a room #303, or 305 during 2008- 
2009 which were used for social and cultural activities.  So it is a growing need of 
the community in this City of Troy. These community people are from 
professional and technical backgrounds.  


Islam is a way of life rather than worship. Every act of us is worship and is a part 
of our cultural and social activity.   I had mentioned in the meeting that we need to 
integrate people of different cultures focusing on youth of all cultures and 
religions through inter-faith activities.  If we are successful we may start another 
place for Mixed Use  (with worship & other activities) depending on availability of 
place and resources.  


Since the building will be used as a community center there will be limited access 
to the building and will be controlled by designated people. So different types of 
activities and associated meditation, if there will be any, will depend upon the 







	   4	  


time and space availability. The building will be maintained and operated by the 
board members and listed members and their families.  If there will be any 
changes in use we will inform you. We will take your help and inform you 
accordingly as we did before for  2170 Big-Beaver Building. 


In the proposed ADAMCC Building, 4924  Rochester Road, Troy  we may 
introduce the following activities for the youth: 


1.To train and educate our youths to present religion in a positive way and 
help them to grow sound and adequate religious ethical and moral 
guidance as leaders of tomorrow. 


2. To arrange and hold religious festivals gathering at appropriate times. 
3. The ADAMCC weekend training classes will include facilities for youth 


activities, conference center, library, community outreach program to help 
the needy families, social gathering, funeral services help to give comfort, 
marriage consultation, workshop for some special activities such as 
workshop on Hajj (pilgrimage to Mecca) performing Training. 


4. There is no other Muslim Organizations in this city near to this building to 
serve our purposes. 


5. This organization is currently serving more than 150 families with limited 
facilities. 


6.  Non-availability of any other religious gathering/assembly place for rent 
for temporary use in the vicinity. 


 
PROPOSED  USES OF THE FACILITY 


Modern zoning practices assign land uses according to function and emerged as 
a key component of Transit Oriented Development. The - Use of the proposed 
facility w as Community Center will have the following benefits: 


1. Increase intensity and aids in efficiency of building and land use 


2. Increase diversity of land uses 


3. Integrate segregated uses and conserve valuable land resources 


4. Optimum use of time of the people and more people will be attracted 


5. Protect the environment and open spaces by making best use of land and 
leaving land for future generations 


6. Reduces auto dependence, pollution, and accident 


7. Increases travel options and families can be united frequently 


8.  Activities can be performed timely and will integrate people of different 
cultures and social background as it is nearer to I75, Big-Beaver and M59. 


9.   Lessen the risk of abandon facility as the Restaurant was failed and we 







	   5	  


want to re  


Use it after improvement. 


10.   Outside Architectural design of this building must create an interesting 
visual experience for both sidewalk users at close range and for those 
viewing the skyline from a distance. 


11. Parking is located in rear yards. 
 
12.  Development includes intense street tree planting along major road 


 


 Some of the Discussion Topics were  


• New Insights into the Engineering Miracles of Quran-Dr. Md. Nurul Amin PE, 
P..Eng. 


• New Insights into the Medical miracles of Quran- Dr. Md. Shahryar Amin MD, 
PhD. 


• Importance of seeking Forgiveness in Islam- Imam Hafez Raihan Uddin- 
Imam of Alfala Mosque 


• Skirmish of Badr and Tafseer of Surah Marriam- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• Importance of Islamic Spirituality - Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• Importance of Islamic Finance-Dr. Imam Achmat 


•  Signs of the Last Day- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


•     Scientific explanations of Earthquake Using the Holy Quran- Dr. Md. Nurul 
Amin 


• Importance of Humanity in Islam- Sonny, Farhan and Shahnoor 


• Community Responsibilities Towards Muslim Youths- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• Education of Muslim Children-Challenges & Opportunities - Imam Chris 
Lovelace 


• Wisdom & Fasting in Ramadan- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• Origin & Significance of Hajj- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• Thawq in Islam & its Impacts on Society-Prof. Dr. Ramzy Mohammad 


• Significance of Muharram and the Day of Ashura-Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 







	   6	  


•  Importance of Ulema in Islam-Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• Rights of Orphans and Poor in Islam- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• Importance of Knowledge in Islam-Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• True Essence of Qurbani- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 


• .The Subtle Power of Hijab- Prof. Dr. Ozgan Felek 


•  Presenting Islam to non Muslim- Prof. Dr. Soraya Orady 


• The History of Muslims in Detroit- Prof Asma Sheikh 


• The 4th Dimension time- an Islamic perspective- Dr. Saad Alam- ( FIAT) 


• Isam & Muslim- Prof. Dr. Ramzi Mohammad of Wyne State Univ 


• Why mercy ids fundamental for human life: Prof. Dr. Hahmood Abdel Hamid – 
( ICI & GM R & D) 


• Synopsis of Surah Yasin – Prof Dr. Zaman ( U of Tennessee) 


• The Community Responsibilities Towards Muslim Youth- Br. Khorram Wany 
( WSU) 


• The Spirit of Eid Ul Adha in Islam- Dr. Hafez Asher Ali 


• Islamic Ways ti raise Children- Dr. Mahmoud Abdel Hamid (ICI0- GM 
research)- 40 patents, 50 publications. 


• Importance oof Scientific Knowledge to Understand deep rooted meaning of 
Quran_ Dr. Md. Nurul Amin 


• Purity of  Intention: Imam Mustafa Tolba ( IONA) 


• Why do calamities befall on us: Sheik Istiyak Attari (IAGD) 


You can see from the above mentioned social and cultural activities that  we 
are trying  to build up an unstained generation of youth and community. We 
strive to provide community Education and Training.  


To answer your questions, the primary purpose is not worship but integrated 
community activities. Muslim religion asks for 5 daily prayers regardless of 
where you are - whether in offices, businesses  or homes. Naturally we can 
pray in a community center but it will be incidental and not the primary purpose. 


We had completed the purchase of the building and the restaurant owner has 
cleaned most of the furniture. Please come and visit the place. I am available to 
show the building to you. 







	   7	  


 Best Regards, 
 
Dr. Md. Nurul Amin  














Nurul

Line



Nurul

Typewritten Text

Bank Financing












Nurul

Line



Nurul

Line



Nurul

Line



Nurul

Typewritten Text

Architect



Nurul

Typewritten Text

Planning Director



Nurul

Typewritten Text

Realestate



Nurul

Line



Nurul

Typewritten Text

Bank Financing










[image: ]





DR. Imam Salie  with Lake Orion Christian Church leaders delivered speech based on Islamic faith, perception and philosophical Issues 

[bookmark: _GoBack]	

image1.emf


















 

From: NURUL AMIN [mailto:mnamin1@msn.com] 
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2013 3:52 PM
To: Sehrish Salah-Ud-Din
Cc: Mark F Miller; Brent Savidant; Brian M Kischnick
Subject: RE: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
 
 Dear All,
 Good afternoon. I am attaching my reply with the attachment. I hope these will help you .
I am sorry for the delay.
 
 Have you any question please let me know.
 Best Regards,
Dr. Md. Nurul Amin
 

From: SalahUdDinS@troymi.gov
To: mnamin1@msn.com
CC: Mark.Miller@troymi.gov; SavidantB@troymi.gov; B.Kischnick@troymi.gov
Subject: RE: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
Date: Mon, 30 Sep 2013 18:19:10 +0000

Good Afternoon Dr. Amin,
 
Hope you had a pleasant weekend. We wanted to email you and follow-up on our email
we sent on Friday. When you get a moment today, please kindly reply to the email. Thank
you for your cooperation.
 
Regards,
Sehrish
 

From: Sehrish Salah-Ud-Din 
Sent: Friday, September 27, 2013 10:32 AM
To: 'mnamin1@msn.com'
Cc: Mark F Miller; Brent Savidant; Brian M Kischnick
Subject: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
Importance: High
 
Dr. Amin,
 
Thank you for meeting with us this morning. We had a few more questions regarding the
Community  Center. It was brought to our attention that there is a website, facebook page,
etc already in existence with this center.
 

mailto:SalahUdDinS@troymi.gov
mailto:mnamin1@msn.com
mailto:Mark.Miller@troymi.gov
mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
mailto:B.Kischnick@troymi.gov


Upon review, we saw on the following two links that there will be prayer rooms and prayer
will be conducted 5 times a day including the Friday prayer. That contradicts the statement
you gave us in the past and this morning. We truly just want to verify that this is not a
place of worship because as stated earlier, that will change the zoning regulations that
apply to a community center vs. a place of worship.
 
http://www.salatomatic.com/d/Troy+23781+Adam-Community-Center
 
http://adamcc.dnsalias.com/about.php
 
At the first link, salatomatic, under prayers, it states, “all prayers including formal jum’a”
On the second link, adamcc.dnalias.com, under ‘Features” it states that there will be two
prayer halls with 12,000 SQ. FT.
 
Please clarify, because according to the websites, your statements and floor plan you
provided today seem to contradict what we see online. Please help us understand if this is
a place of worship or not. Does it have prayer rooms? Are the 5 prayers going to be
conducted here?
 
Looking forward to your reply.
 
Thanks,
 
Sehrish, Mark, and Brent.
 

http://www.salatomatic.com/d/Troy+23781+Adam-Community-Center
http://adamcc.dnsalias.com/about.php


	   1	  

Dear Sehrish, Mark, and Brent, 
 City  of Troy 
 9/30/23013 
 
Thank you for the email of clarifications.  I was out of the office after meeting with 
you at 9 AM- 9.50 AM in the City Manager’s office. So I could not reply.  In all of 
my meetings with the city officials from 7/29/2013 to 9/27/2013 I had repeated the 
same mission and vision.  There was not a single existing building drawing of the 
Restaurant and we prepared the drawing with a certified land surveyor to be 
accurate as possible. I am a seasoned professional Engineer.  My aim is to serve 
the community, which will ensure the law, ethics, morality, and safety.   
 At the start of the meeting I had started to describe some of the background 
information of (2170 Big- Beaver Road Building, 43700 Merrill Church building 
etc.) ADAM COMMUNITY CENTER, however Mr. Mark  F. Miller  requested that I 
discuss the current building, so I could not elaborate the subject.  
 
Our intended use has not been changed. What is presented in the drawing to you 
and to the Fire Department will be our intended use.  
 
In your e-mail of 9/27/13, you cited two links.  These links do not describe this 
project.   
 
 Link attachments: Link no. # 1 
This salatomatic is not connected to ADAMCC. It is an incorrect directory listing 
that we did not create.  Further, a review of our  facebook page shows community 
education through lectures from scholarly people, community and cultural 
activities. In addition, 
 
ADAM CC as a community Center has the following activities: 
 
It  is unique for i ts mission and vision to encourage youths and adults 
to engage and receive spiritual, intellectual, emotional, and physical 
benefits. This wil l  considerably reduce the rate of attr i t ion in North 
America. The center wil l  provide our youth with opportunit ies to 
resist peer pressure and avoiding part of a lost generation. ADAMCC 
contributes to be the source of a model community of diverse 
backgrounds, professions, and perspectives—all striving for a social 
change and transformation.  It  is founded to promote culture, 
education, and human values. It  wil l  provide excellence in serving 
the needs of the community regardless of race, ethnicity, and gender 
by the grace of God.  It  wil l  generate : 

• Awareness of religions and beliefs, teachings, practices and forms of 
expression, as well as of the influence of religion on individuals, 
families, communities and cultures. 

• Enable to develop respect and sensitivity to others, in particular those 
whose faith and beliefs are different from their own and to promote 



	   2	  

discernment to combat prejudice. 
• Endorse these principles as fundamentally important for all children 

and young people, for communities, and for the well being of our 
society. 

• Help to Establish a Center for increasing knowledge through proper 
research, education, training and guidance. 

• Valuing diversity, anti-racism, avoiding stereotype faiths, creating 
atmosphere for all in artistic, creative, recreational activities based on 
religious stories, people, places and incidences. 

 
Here are examples of some of the activities  that took place: 
 

1. Community Education and spiritual Training using some scholarly people: 
Attorneys (e.g. what a Community should know about US laws- Attorney 
Syed Mustafa),  

2. Physicians-New insights into the Medical Miracles in Quran – Dr. Erona 
Reza- University of Ottawa, Canada. 

3. Miracles in  Human Skeletal Design and Pathogenesis- Dr. Sima 
Rahman- University of Toledo. Other  speakers involve 
 

4.  Engineers, scientist, religious leaders, youth students, professionals and 
so on- several topics 

5. Where community members meet each other socially 
6.  Group activities for social support- helping the needy families, and 

disaster victims,  
7. Name of Some of the Speakers: Imam Faisal (Ground Zero Mosque) , 

Dr.Imam Achmat Salie ( Dir. of Islamic Studies-U D Mercy), Imam 
Mustafa Elturk ( IONA), Imam Abdul Latiff ( Alfala Mosque), Imam 
Mustafa Tolba (Quran Institute),  Prof. Dr. Mahmood Abdulhamid ( ICI, & 
GM), Mufti Hafez Rabbani ( IAGD), Dr. Akhlaque, Br. Khorram Wani 
( WSU), Dr.M.N.Amin, Shayk Ishtiaq Attari ( IAGD), Dr. Ramzi 
Mohammad ( WSU), Dr. Erona Reza, Br. Abderahman (WSU), 
M.Shahnoor Amin ( U of M), Br. Rahat Khan ( Chrysler), Moulana Hafiz 
Tofazzul Haque,Br. Harun Imtiaz ( Zytuna College), Imam Ebadur 
Rahman ( Zytuna), Dr. Sima Rahman ( Univ. of Toledo), Imam Sohel 
Mangera (Tawhid Center), Dr. Hafiz Asher Ali, ( Resident  Ohio) Dr. 
Morsy and Mohammad Qadi, Shayk Hamzah Maqbul, Br. Syed Mustafa 
(Attorney at Law), Imam Sami Kocak, Dr. Osman Master.. ( Physician)  
Prof. Dr. Saad Alam ( FIAT), Engr. Yousuf Mohammad (FORD). Please  
Refer topics of discussions at the end. 
 

Therefore ADAMCC is not a worship place but rather a place to guide our 
community with required training. We do not have a fixed salaried Imam /prayer 
leader to conduct any worship activities. 
 
Link#2. This is an outdated website for the ADAM COMMUNITY 
CENTER.  It  was created in 2009. We have not updated it.    We 



	   3	  

wanted to buy a large building with all  mixed activit ies. In course of 
t ime we have abandoned the idea because of price increase of real 
estate and financial restraint. For examples:  

• The 12,000-sft areas you had mentioned was our intention to buy that 
Church on sale in 2009, which has 30,000-sft building with 7.5 acre land 
(Sold US$ 1.1 million). The prayer area of that building with ~800 fixed 
seat was 12,000.0 sft. (Please Review attachment 1,2&3).  We could not 
buy it. We were outbid. 

• The Big- Beaver building: was for mixed use of 40,000sft (sold US $1.3 
million). We had meetings with Mr. Brent  Savident and Mr. Paull Evans  
of the Planning Dept. and we submitted our plan in 2010. We could not 
buy that building and were outbid. 

• Due, in part, to price constraints, we realized that a place of worship 
would have high maintenance costs. 

• We realized a community center was needed more than a place of 
worship. 

 
The Building drawing that we have  submitted I on 9/23/2013 was for ADAM 
(father of all humanity) Community Center as this is the most needed one for our 
community rather than a worship place.   
In answer to your specific questions: 
 

Q: “Does it have prayer rooms? Are the 5 prayers going to be 
conducted here? “ 

We do not have a designated prayer room.  Any use for prayer is incidential.  
Because during any social activity, speech, discussion, some of the rooms such 
as reading rooms can be used as for prayer/meditation, prayer and meditation 
may occur.  . Moreover, Muslim prayers don't need designated rooms so during 
the time of meetings/or assembly; one may use any rooms or spots for meditation.  

As it is a community center very few people who live in the neighborhood will 
come different times to do social and cultural activities as noted above. These 
types of activities are being taking place in other community centers in this city. 
Even in Troy Community Center we had rented a room #303, or 305 during 2008- 
2009 which were used for social and cultural activities.  So it is a growing need of 
the community in this City of Troy. These community people are from 
professional and technical backgrounds.  

Islam is a way of life rather than worship. Every act of us is worship and is a part 
of our cultural and social activity.   I had mentioned in the meeting that we need to 
integrate people of different cultures focusing on youth of all cultures and 
religions through inter-faith activities.  If we are successful we may start another 
place for Mixed Use  (with worship & other activities) depending on availability of 
place and resources.  

Since the building will be used as a community center there will be limited access 
to the building and will be controlled by designated people. So different types of 
activities and associated meditation, if there will be any, will depend upon the 



	   4	  

time and space availability. The building will be maintained and operated by the 
board members and listed members and their families.  If there will be any 
changes in use we will inform you. We will take your help and inform you 
accordingly as we did before for  2170 Big-Beaver Building. 

In the proposed ADAMCC Building, 4924  Rochester Road, Troy  we may 
introduce the following activities for the youth: 

1.To train and educate our youths to present religion in a positive way and 
help them to grow sound and adequate religious ethical and moral 
guidance as leaders of tomorrow. 

2. To arrange and hold religious festivals gathering at appropriate times. 
3. The ADAMCC weekend training classes will include facilities for youth 

activities, conference center, library, community outreach program to help 
the needy families, social gathering, funeral services help to give comfort, 
marriage consultation, workshop for some special activities such as 
workshop on Hajj (pilgrimage to Mecca) performing Training. 

4. There is no other Muslim Organizations in this city near to this building to 
serve our purposes. 

5. This organization is currently serving more than 150 families with limited 
facilities. 

6.  Non-availability of any other religious gathering/assembly place for rent 
for temporary use in the vicinity. 

 
PROPOSED  USES OF THE FACILITY 

Modern zoning practices assign land uses according to function and emerged as 
a key component of Transit Oriented Development. The - Use of the proposed 
facility w as Community Center will have the following benefits: 

1. Increase intensity and aids in efficiency of building and land use 

2. Increase diversity of land uses 

3. Integrate segregated uses and conserve valuable land resources 

4. Optimum use of time of the people and more people will be attracted 

5. Protect the environment and open spaces by making best use of land and 
leaving land for future generations 

6. Reduces auto dependence, pollution, and accident 

7. Increases travel options and families can be united frequently 

8.  Activities can be performed timely and will integrate people of different 
cultures and social background as it is nearer to I75, Big-Beaver and M59. 

9.   Lessen the risk of abandon facility as the Restaurant was failed and we 



	   5	  

want to re  

Use it after improvement. 

10.   Outside Architectural design of this building must create an interesting 
visual experience for both sidewalk users at close range and for those 
viewing the skyline from a distance. 

11. Parking is located in rear yards. 
 
12.  Development includes intense street tree planting along major road 

 

 Some of the Discussion Topics were  

• New Insights into the Engineering Miracles of Quran-Dr. Md. Nurul Amin PE, 
P..Eng. 

• New Insights into the Medical miracles of Quran- Dr. Md. Shahryar Amin MD, 
PhD. 

• Importance of seeking Forgiveness in Islam- Imam Hafez Raihan Uddin- 
Imam of Alfala Mosque 

• Skirmish of Badr and Tafseer of Surah Marriam- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• Importance of Islamic Spirituality - Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• Importance of Islamic Finance-Dr. Imam Achmat 

•  Signs of the Last Day- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

•     Scientific explanations of Earthquake Using the Holy Quran- Dr. Md. Nurul 
Amin 

• Importance of Humanity in Islam- Sonny, Farhan and Shahnoor 

• Community Responsibilities Towards Muslim Youths- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• Education of Muslim Children-Challenges & Opportunities - Imam Chris 
Lovelace 

• Wisdom & Fasting in Ramadan- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• Origin & Significance of Hajj- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• Thawq in Islam & its Impacts on Society-Prof. Dr. Ramzy Mohammad 

• Significance of Muharram and the Day of Ashura-Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 



	   6	  

•  Importance of Ulema in Islam-Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• Rights of Orphans and Poor in Islam- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• Importance of Knowledge in Islam-Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• True Essence of Qurbani- Dr. Imam Achmat Salie 

• .The Subtle Power of Hijab- Prof. Dr. Ozgan Felek 

•  Presenting Islam to non Muslim- Prof. Dr. Soraya Orady 

• The History of Muslims in Detroit- Prof Asma Sheikh 

• The 4th Dimension time- an Islamic perspective- Dr. Saad Alam- ( FIAT) 

• Isam & Muslim- Prof. Dr. Ramzi Mohammad of Wyne State Univ 

• Why mercy ids fundamental for human life: Prof. Dr. Hahmood Abdel Hamid – 
( ICI & GM R & D) 

• Synopsis of Surah Yasin – Prof Dr. Zaman ( U of Tennessee) 

• The Community Responsibilities Towards Muslim Youth- Br. Khorram Wany 
( WSU) 

• The Spirit of Eid Ul Adha in Islam- Dr. Hafez Asher Ali 

• Islamic Ways ti raise Children- Dr. Mahmoud Abdel Hamid (ICI0- GM 
research)- 40 patents, 50 publications. 

• Importance oof Scientific Knowledge to Understand deep rooted meaning of 
Quran_ Dr. Md. Nurul Amin 

• Purity of  Intention: Imam Mustafa Tolba ( IONA) 

• Why do calamities befall on us: Sheik Istiyak Attari (IAGD) 

You can see from the above mentioned social and cultural activities that  we 
are trying  to build up an unstained generation of youth and community. We 
strive to provide community Education and Training.  

To answer your questions, the primary purpose is not worship but integrated 
community activities. Muslim religion asks for 5 daily prayers regardless of 
where you are - whether in offices, businesses  or homes. Naturally we can 
pray in a community center but it will be incidental and not the primary purpose. 

We had completed the purchase of the building and the restaurant owner has 
cleaned most of the furniture. Please come and visit the place. I am available to 
show the building to you. 



	   7	  

 Best Regards, 
 
Dr. Md. Nurul Amin  









Nurul
Line

Nurul
Typewritten Text
Bank Financing



Nurul
Line

Nurul
Line

Nurul
Line

Nurul
Typewritten Text
Architect

Nurul
Typewritten Text
Planning Director

Nurul
Typewritten Text
Realestate

Nurul
Line

Nurul
Typewritten Text
Bank Financing



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment G:  
Email response by Dr. Nural Amin to Assistant to the 
City Manager, dated September 30, 2013 



From: Mark F Miller
To: Brent Savidant
Subject: FW: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
Date: Monday, October 28, 2013 1:58:58 PM

 
 

From: Sehrish Salah-Ud-Din 
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2013 2:19 PM
To: 'mnamin1@msn.com'
Cc: Mark F Miller; Brent Savidant; Brian M Kischnick
Subject: RE: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
 
Good Afternoon Dr. Amin,
 
Hope you had a pleasant weekend. We wanted to email you and follow-up on our email we sent on
Friday. When you get a moment today, please kindly reply to the email. Thank you for your
cooperation.
 
Regards,
Sehrish
 

From: Sehrish Salah-Ud-Din 
Sent: Friday, September 27, 2013 10:32 AM
To: 'mnamin1@msn.com'
Cc: Mark F Miller; Brent Savidant; Brian M Kischnick
Subject: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
Importance: High
 
Dr. Amin,
 
Thank you for meeting with us this morning. We had a few more questions regarding the
Community  Center. It was brought to our attention that there is a website, facebook page, etc
already in existence with this center.
 
Upon review, we saw on the following two links that there will be prayer rooms and prayer will be
conducted 5 times a day including the Friday prayer. That contradicts the statement you gave us in
the past and this morning. We truly just want to verify that this is not a place of worship because
as stated earlier, that will change the zoning regulations that apply to a community center vs. a
place of worship.
 
http://www.salatomatic.com/d/Troy+23781+Adam-Community-Center
 
http://adamcc.dnsalias.com/about.php
 
At the first link, salatomatic, under prayers, it states, “all prayers including formal jum’a”
On the second link, adamcc.dnalias.com, under ‘Features” it states that there will be two prayer
halls with 12,000 SQ. FT.

mailto:/O=CITY OF TROY/OU=CITYOFTROY/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=MILLERMF
mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
http://www.salatomatic.com/d/Troy+23781+Adam-Community-Center
http://adamcc.dnsalias.com/about.php


 
Please clarify, because according to the websites, your statements and floor plan you provided
today seem to contradict what we see online. Please help us understand if this is a place of worship
or not. Does it have prayer rooms? Are the 5 prayers going to be conducted here?
 
Looking forward to your reply.
 
Thanks,
 
Sehrish, Mark, and Brent.
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment H:  
Email sent by Assistant to the City Manager to Dr. 
Nural Amin requesting clarification of statements 
made during meeting, dated September 27, 2013 



From: Mark F Miller
To: Brent Savidant
Subject: FW: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
Date: Monday, October 28, 2013 1:59:17 PM
Importance: High

 
 

From: Sehrish Salah-Ud-Din 
Sent: Friday, September 27, 2013 10:32 AM
To: 'mnamin1@msn.com'
Cc: Mark F Miller; Brent Savidant; Brian M Kischnick
Subject: Further Questions about the Adam Community Center
Importance: High
 
Dr. Amin,
 
Thank you for meeting with us this morning. We had a few more questions regarding the
Community  Center. It was brought to our attention that there is a website, facebook page, etc
already in existence with this center.
 
Upon review, we saw on the following two links that there will be prayer rooms and prayer will be
conducted 5 times a day including the Friday prayer. That contradicts the statement you gave us in
the past and this morning. We truly just want to verify that this is not a place of worship because
as stated earlier, that will change the zoning regulations that apply to a community center vs. a
place of worship.
 
http://www.salatomatic.com/d/Troy+23781+Adam-Community-Center
 
http://adamcc.dnsalias.com/about.php
 
At the first link, salatomatic, under prayers, it states, “all prayers including formal jum’a”
On the second link, adamcc.dnalias.com, under ‘Features” it states that there will be two prayer
halls with 12,000 SQ. FT.
 
Please clarify, because according to the websites, your statements and floor plan you provided
today seem to contradict what we see online. Please help us understand if this is a place of worship
or not. Does it have prayer rooms? Are the 5 prayers going to be conducted here?
 
Looking forward to your reply.
 
Thanks,
 
Sehrish, Mark, and Brent.
 

mailto:/O=CITY OF TROY/OU=CITYOFTROY/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=MILLERMF
mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
http://www.salatomatic.com/d/Troy+23781+Adam-Community-Center
http://adamcc.dnsalias.com/about.php


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment I:  
Email request by Planning Director to Dr. Nural Amin 
for clarification and additional information related to 
parking calculations, dated September 20, 2013 



From: Mark F Miller
To: Brent Savidant
Subject: FW: 4924 Rochester ADAM CC BUILDING
Date: Monday, October 28, 2013 2:00:23 PM

 
 

From: Brent Savidant 
Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 9:57 AM
To: 'NURUL AMIN'
Cc: Mark F Miller; Steve Burns; Rick Kessler; Mitchell E Grusnick; Paul N Featherston; Paul M Evans
Subject: RE: 4924 Rochester ADAM CC BUILDING
 
This is the type of information we seek.  Although the attached document is labeled a Demolition
Plan, it appears that it is a proposed floor plan.  Please verify.
 
Please provide parking calculations so that we can confirm that there will be sufficient off-street
parking spaces for the proposed uses.  Parking space requirements are in Article 13 of the City of
Troy Zoning Ordinance, which is available online on the Planning page of the City of Troy website.
 

From: NURUL AMIN [mailto:mnamin1@msn.com] 
Sent: Thursday, September 19, 2013 2:19 PM
To: Brent Savidant
Cc: Mark F Miller; Steve Burns; Rick Kessler; Mitchell E Grusnick; Paul N Featherston; Paul M Evans
Subject: RE: 4924 Rochester ADAM CC BUILDING
 
Dear Mr. Savidant,
 Good afternoon. Thank you for your advice.  The ADAM COMMUNITY CENTER (ADAMCC)
wants to purchase the building 4924, Rochester Road, Troy, MI 48085 for the intention of a
Community Center and for which I met you on 7/29/2013.
 Since there was no existing drawing of the building  in the City we made a drawing using a
licensed  surveyor.  The building is empty now. We visited the building with the Fire
Marshall on 9/9/2013 at 10:30 AM. We had a meeting with the City officials and Fire dept.
on 9/5/2013 , Mr. Chuck Roberts, Mr. Kessler, Mr. Bowers, Mrs. Tonya at 1 PM .   Based on
discussions we are showing  the uses of the building  as discussed as attached in the
drawing.
The main functions can be summerzied as:
1. Social / cultural gathering of a mixed community
2.  Youth activities room after school and weekend
3. Exercise room with basic equipment
4. Reading Rooms with bookshelf
5. Recreation room with computers
6. Storage rooms- basic  items
7. Some valuable book shop.
8. Fridge and microwave room.
9. Consultation Room.

mailto:/O=CITY OF TROY/OU=CITYOFTROY/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=MILLERMF
mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
mailto:mnamin1@msn.com


 
These are our intended uses of the building. Our main intentions are to integrate people of
different groups, men, women and youth apart from different ethnicities to unite them ,
educate them, train them and guide them morally and ethically to serve the United States
of America effectively and efficiently through lectures, presentations and discussions.  
There is none of this type of facility in the City of Troy and neighboring cities for our
communities. These people are highly educated  professionals : doctors, engineers,
educators, businessman and so on.
Because of the location , we believe this building with all of these activities will serve to
strengthen and enhance community relations.
It was our draem and please help us to establish this center for the intended uses.
 Best Regards,
Dr. Md. Nurul Amin
A community worker.
 
 
 
 

 

From: SavidantB@troymi.gov
To: mnamin1@msn.com
CC: Mark.Miller@troymi.gov; S.Burns@troymi.gov; R.Kessler@troymi.gov;
GrusnickME@troymi.gov; Paul.Featherston@troymi.gov; P.Evans@troymi.gov
Subject: 4924 Rochester
Date: Wed, 18 Sep 2013 18:28:35 +0000

Dr. Amin:
 
I understand that you or an organization that you are involved with intends to purchase
4924 Rochester in Troy, MI.  In previous correspondence with the Planning Department you
implied that your intent is to occupy the existing building as a  “community center”, which
is permitted by right in the underlying NN district.  Before making a major investment on
this property, I strongly encourage you to clarify with the City that the intended use is a
“community center” and not a “place of worship”.  The standards of approval for a “place
of worship” are more strict than a “community center”.  Although also permitted by right,
one of the specific approval standards for “place of worship” is a 50-foot setback for the
building from abutting properties.  The existing building does not meet this requirement.
 Therefore, a “place of worship” would not be permitted at this location without a variance
from the Zoning Board of Appeals.
 

mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
mailto:mnamin1@msn.com
mailto:Mark.Miller@troymi.gov
mailto:S.Burns@troymi.gov
mailto:R.Kessler@troymi.gov
mailto:GrusnickME@troymi.gov
mailto:Paul.Featherston@troymi.gov
mailto:P.Evans@troymi.gov


I suggest you provide a written description of the proposed use of the building to the
Planning Department prior to purchase.  This can be provided to me via email.  The Zoning
Administrator can review the description of the proposed use and confirm that the use
complies with Zoning Ordinance requirements, prior to purchase of the property.
 
If you have any questions please feel free to contact me.
 
R. Brent Savidant, AICP
Planning Director
 
City of Troy
500 W. Big Beaver
Troy, MI 48084
 
Email: savidantb@troymi.gov
Office: (248) 524-3364

mailto:savidantb@troymi.gov


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment J:  
Email response from Dr. Nural Amin to Planning 
Director describing proposed use, dated September 
19, 2013 



From: Mark F Miller
To: Brent Savidant
Subject: FW: 4924 Rochester ADAM CC BUILDING
Date: Monday, October 28, 2013 2:00:42 PM
Attachments: ADAM CC TO PRINT DEMOLITION R2 Model (3).pdf

 
 

From: NURUL AMIN [mailto:mnamin1@msn.com] 
Sent: Thursday, September 19, 2013 2:19 PM
To: Brent Savidant
Cc: Mark F Miller; Steve Burns; Rick Kessler; Mitchell E Grusnick; Paul N Featherston; Paul M Evans
Subject: RE: 4924 Rochester ADAM CC BUILDING
 
Dear Mr. Savidant,
 Good afternoon. Thank you for your advice.  The ADAM COMMUNITY CENTER (ADAMCC)
wants to purchase the building 4924, Rochester Road, Troy, MI 48085 for the intention of a
Community Center and for which I met you on 7/29/2013.
 Since there was no existing drawing of the building  in the City we made a drawing using a
licensed  surveyor.  The building is empty now. We visited the building with the Fire
Marshall on 9/9/2013 at 10:30 AM. We had a meeting with the City officials and Fire dept.
on 9/5/2013 , Mr. Chuck Roberts, Mr. Kessler, Mr. Bowers, Mrs. Tonya at 1 PM .   Based on
discussions we are showing  the uses of the building  as discussed as attached in the
drawing.
The main functions can be summerzied as:
1. Social / cultural gathering of a mixed community
2.  Youth activities room after school and weekend
3. Exercise room with basic equipment
4. Reading Rooms with bookshelf
5. Recreation room with computers
6. Storage rooms- basic  items
7. Some valuable book shop.
8. Fridge and microwave room.
9. Consultation Room.
 
These are our intended uses of the building. Our main intentions are to integrate people of
different groups, men, women and youth apart from different ethnicities to unite them ,
educate them, train them and guide them morally and ethically to serve the United States
of America effectively and efficiently through lectures, presentations and discussions.  
There is none of this type of facility in the City of Troy and neighboring cities for our
communities. These people are highly educated  professionals : doctors, engineers,
educators, businessman and so on.
Because of the location , we believe this building with all of these activities will serve to
strengthen and enhance community relations.

mailto:/O=CITY OF TROY/OU=CITYOFTROY/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=MILLERMF
mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov







It was our draem and please help us to establish this center for the intended uses.
 Best Regards,
Dr. Md. Nurul Amin
A community worker.
 
 
 
 

 

From: SavidantB@troymi.gov
To: mnamin1@msn.com
CC: Mark.Miller@troymi.gov; S.Burns@troymi.gov; R.Kessler@troymi.gov;
GrusnickME@troymi.gov; Paul.Featherston@troymi.gov; P.Evans@troymi.gov
Subject: 4924 Rochester
Date: Wed, 18 Sep 2013 18:28:35 +0000

Dr. Amin:
 
I understand that you or an organization that you are involved with intends to purchase
4924 Rochester in Troy, MI.  In previous correspondence with the Planning Department you
implied that your intent is to occupy the existing building as a  “community center”, which
is permitted by right in the underlying NN district.  Before making a major investment on
this property, I strongly encourage you to clarify with the City that the intended use is a
“community center” and not a “place of worship”.  The standards of approval for a “place
of worship” are more strict than a “community center”.  Although also permitted by right,
one of the specific approval standards for “place of worship” is a 50-foot setback for the
building from abutting properties.  The existing building does not meet this requirement.
 Therefore, a “place of worship” would not be permitted at this location without a variance
from the Zoning Board of Appeals.
 
I suggest you provide a written description of the proposed use of the building to the
Planning Department prior to purchase.  This can be provided to me via email.  The Zoning
Administrator can review the description of the proposed use and confirm that the use
complies with Zoning Ordinance requirements, prior to purchase of the property.
 
If you have any questions please feel free to contact me.
 
R. Brent Savidant, AICP
Planning Director
 

mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
mailto:mnamin1@msn.com
mailto:Mark.Miller@troymi.gov
mailto:S.Burns@troymi.gov
mailto:R.Kessler@troymi.gov
mailto:GrusnickME@troymi.gov
mailto:Paul.Featherston@troymi.gov
mailto:P.Evans@troymi.gov


City of Troy
500 W. Big Beaver
Troy, MI 48084
 
Email: savidantb@troymi.gov
Office: (248) 524-3364

mailto:savidantb@troymi.gov




 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment K:  
Email request by Planning Director to Dr. Nural Amin 
for a written description of the proposed use, dated 
September 18, 2013 
 



From: Mark F Miller
To: Brent Savidant
Subject: FW: 4924 Rochester
Date: Monday, October 28, 2013 2:01:01 PM

 
 

From: Brent Savidant 
Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2013 2:29 PM
To: 'NURUL AMIN'
Cc: Mark F Miller; Steve Burns; Rick Kessler; Mitchell E Grusnick; Paul N Featherston; Paul M Evans
Subject: 4924 Rochester
 
Dr. Amin:
 
I understand that you or an organization that you are involved with intends to purchase 4924
Rochester in Troy, MI.  In previous correspondence with the Planning Department you implied that
your intent is to occupy the existing building as a  “community center”, which is permitted by right
in the underlying NN district.  Before making a major investment on this property, I strongly
encourage you to clarify with the City that the intended use is a “community center” and not a
“place of worship”.  The standards of approval for a “place of worship” are more strict than a
“community center”.  Although also permitted by right, one of the specific approval standards for
“place of worship” is a 50-foot setback for the building from abutting properties.  The existing
building does not meet this requirement.  Therefore, a “place of worship” would not be permitted
at this location without a variance from the Zoning Board of Appeals.
 
I suggest you provide a written description of the proposed use of the building to the Planning
Department prior to purchase.  This can be provided to me via email.  The Zoning Administrator can
review the description of the proposed use and confirm that the use complies with Zoning
Ordinance requirements, prior to purchase of the property.
 
If you have any questions please feel free to contact me.
 
R. Brent Savidant, AICP
Planning Director
 
City of Troy
500 W. Big Beaver
Troy, MI 48084
 
Email: savidantb@troymi.gov
Office: (248) 524-3364

mailto:/O=CITY OF TROY/OU=CITYOFTROY/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=MILLERMF
mailto:SavidantB@troymi.gov
mailto:savidantb@troymi.gov


















































































TZAB 120913 Page 1 
 

To:  The City of Troy Zoning Board of Appeals      12/09/2013 

Subject:  Dec 17, 2013 Zoning Board of Appeals: Adam Community Center  
   Revised 12/03/13 Version (Addition of Point 1c and Attachments 1b - 1d, and 4b) 

 
I thank the City of Troy in allowing the community the opportunity to address the zoning issues related to the 
Adam Community Center intended to be located at 4924 Rochester Rd. Troy MI, previously the location of 
Marinelli’s Restaurant.  As a property owner within the community I feel it a responsibility to share research 
that quantifies that the intended use of the property is in fact for an Islamic Community Center and a Place of 
Worship, thereby violating zoning ordinance Section 6.21 Places of Worship. 

This document has been prepared to assist board members in deciding the issue. While I believe a majority of 
those reviewing the facts would find the decision somewhat obvious, I recognize some may not have the 
related knowledge or the time for researching thoroughly.  
 

1. The Adam Community Center is classified as a Church by the Internal Revenue Service to receive tax-
exempt donations for this purpose and to receive other tax-exempt benefits as a church under their tax 
id # 27-1213825.  (ATCH 1a) 

a. This would include allowing tax exemptions for donations solicited for a Pace of Worship noted 
on their website, Facebook page, etc.  

b. A church is in fact a Place of Worship, telling the IRS that you are one to gain tax-exempt status 
and telling the City of Troy that you are not to gain approval for a facility’s use is ambiguous. 

c. Additionally, the organization informed the “Michigan Dept. of Licensing & Regulatory Affairs” 
their purpose as a “Worship Place” in 2013, “An Islamic Center for Practice of Islamic Religion & 
Prayer Place” in 2012 and as a “Mosque” in 2010. (ATCH 1b – 1d) 
 

2. Adam Community Center Internet Publications Indicate it is an Islamic Organization and a Place of 
Worship: 

a. Facebook page prior to being altered upon receiving notice of appeal. (ATCH 2) 
b. Adam Community Website: Adamcc.us (ATCH 3a – 3f) 
c. Islamic Masjid Locator: Masjidnow.com & iPhone App (ATCH 4a - 4b) 
d. Islamic Salatomatic Website: Salatomatic.com (ATCH 5) 

i. While the party claims he is not aware of the Adam Community Center’s posting on the 
Islamic Salatomatic website, the terms and conditions of adding page content to Salatomatic 
is that it must be done by the registered user. Adam Community Center's page clearly 
indicates that the Adam Community Center located at 4700 Rochester Road, Troy, MI 
48085, is "a musallah where 5 times prayer is performed", with a denomination of Sunni 
(Traditional).  The picture posted is directly out of the Adam Community Center's Facebook 
page.  The Definition for Musallah is: a Muslim place of prayer that, unlike a masjid, is not 
consecrated because it is temporary or rented.  A broader definition is: [place of worship 
house of prayer]. 
 

3. In their letter to the city dated 9/30/13 the party representing the Adam Community states the following 
in portraying the need for the center: 

a. "There is no other Muslim Organization in this city near this building to serve our purposes.” 
b. "This organization is currently serving more than 150 families with limited facilities." 
c. "Non-availability of any other religious gathering /assembly place for rent for temporary use in 

the vicinity." 
d. Within the party's response the word Islam is mentioned 14 times, Muslim 10, Quran 6, Religion 

5, and Faith 3. No other faith, or reference to one, is mentioned. 



TZAB 120913 Page 2 
 

4. The fact that the words Muslim or Islamic are not prefaced in the organization's name "Adam 
Community Center" does not preclude the fact it is a Muslim / Islamic Community Center.  

a. The representative explains ADAMCC stands for: "ADAM (father of all humanity) Community 
Center " 

b. In the case of the Adam Community Center, the name "Adam" is based on strong Islamic faith 
belief.   

c. Adam in Islam is defined by Wikipedia as:  "Muslims see Adam as the first Muslim, as the 
Qur'an promulgates that all the prophets preached the same faith of submission to God."   

d. There are in fact other Islamic Centers including "Adam" in their name such as "Adams" in 
Washington DC.  Adams in this case it doubles as an acronym for All Dulles Area Muslim 
Society. 
 

5. In the letter dated 9/30/2013 the party representing the Islamic organization behind the Adam 
Community Center suggests the center is for the entire community while conversely revealing its intent 
is to serve the Islamic Community and their religious ideals. It is further suggested that its ancillary 
activities are its primary purpose, claiming prayer would be incidental, when many of the activities 
themselves constitute worship within a religious faith when performed as a congregation. 

a. Acts of Worship as a Congregation within a Place of Worship is not limited to prayer as Acts of 
Worship include devotion, sermons/preaching, teaching, charitable giving, singing, social 
activities etc.  The mass majority of religious organizations with an established Place of Worship 
conduct a multitude of activities as a form of Worship, just as those outlined by the Adam 
Community Center representative as activities intended. (ATCH 9a – 9f) 

b. The concept of Worship in Islam is defined as: “Worship is an all-inclusive term for all that God 
loves of external and internal sayings and actions of a person.” In other words, worship is 
everything one says or does for the pleasure of God. This of course, includes rituals as well as 
beliefs, social activities, and personal contributions to the welfare of society. (whyislam.org) 
 

6. Providing an explanation that the Adam Community is not a Place of Worship, the party indicates "we 
do not have a fixed salary Imam / prayer leader to conduct any worship activates".  

a. An Imam does not require a fixed salary to perform prayer leadership duties.   
b. An Imam is a prayer leader and is identified by "Imam" preceding their name. While not 

preferred, they can be substituted when not available. 
c. The representative details various Imams giving presentations (sermons) no less than 24 times 

in the past related to the current center. In fact their website indicates the president of the Adam 
Community Center is an Imam himself, Dr. Imam Achmat Salie.  A flyer since removed from the 
organization’s Facebook page promoting an Adam Community Center fundraiser for their place 
of worship revealed Dr. Imam Achmat Salie as the primary contact. (ATCH 6) 

d. Sermons address a Biblical, theological, religious, or moral topic, usually expounding on a type 
of belief, law or behavior within both past and present contexts. Elements of preaching include 
exposition, exhortation and practical application” (Wikipedia).  
 

7. While the party claims it is not a Place of Worship they state: "Islam is a way of life rather than worship.  
Every act of us is worship and is part of our cultural and social activity”. A rational interpretation of this 
statement would be: every act (not just prayer), performed on and within the property is and will be 
Worship, we will worship, and will pray as prayer will only be incidental.   

a. The 2nd pillar of Islam is Salat, a ritual of prayer five times a day.  Dr. Jamal Badawi, Vice-
Chairman of the Islamic University documents the following: "There are certain prayers that 
must be performed in a congregation.  The most important congregational prayer is the noon 



TZAB 120913 Page 3 
 

prayer on Friday.  Usually the prayer is proceeded by a brief sermon explaining some aspects of 
Islam and its application to people's lives and some of the contemporary problems." 

b. Salat (prayer), has priority over anything else that is stated as the Adams Community Center’s 
purpose, yet, the party states that prayer will be purely incidental.  There is absolutely nothing 
incidental about the requirement to pray as a congregation within the Islamic faith’ being that it 
is Islam 101, the second priority of the Five Pillars.  Prayer is only second to believing in the 
associated god and repudiating the existence of any other. 
 

8. The city previously indicated the Adam Community Center was not an Islamic Center or a Place of 
Worship solely based on the representative stating it was not and that prayer would only be incidental. 

a. An organization believing in, practicing and communicating a specific ideology together as a 
group is labeled accordingly.  This is not limited to one's faith or denomination but extends to 
other group aligned interests, whether religion or other. When the community center is built on 
the foundation and ideals of Islam, serves those in the community who worship within the 
Islamic faith, its members are Muslim who preach and practice the word and teachings of Islam, 
it is a Muslim / Islamic Community Center. 

b. A facility need not have a dome and towers to be a Place of Islamic Worship. Nor does a Place 
of Worship need to be called a Church or have pews to be one. Case upon case has occurred 
throughout our great nation indisputably identifying an Islamic Community Center as where 
Muslims Worship. From suburban homes to commercial buildings Muslims must frequently 
congregate for group prayer with a sermon after and or before. Praying as a congregation drives 
the need for the sermon, just as it does in other religions, neither of which is incidental. 

c. An Islamic Community Center is synonymous with a Place of Worship which is easily verified 
through simple internet searches and review of news articles involving other centers.  Princeton 
University's Definition for Place of Worship is: "Any building where congregations gather for 
prayer." The party states in his letter the Adam Community Center serves 150 families, and 
there is no other religious assembly place for them to go. 
 

9. The Adam Community Center's website denotes it as an Islamic Organization seeking a new home on 
a major street in the City of Troy or neighboring city, for which donations have been, and are, being 
solicited utilizing their IRS tax exempt status as a Church. The party claims this is an outdated website 
and that plans changed due to the unavailability of sufficient property.  

a. Prayer rooms dominate the so called outdated plans outlined on the website. (7a - 7b) 
b. Alignment of the outdated plans with what has been submitted to the city reveals the 

substitution of the gymnasium with an exercise room, a few other changes to smaller rooms, 
and an overall downsizing of the facility.   

c. The modifications noted for the new facility contains (2) large open space carpeted rooms 
exactly what is required for prayer rooms (male & female) outlined in the published plans, and 
precisely indicative of prayer rooms in Sunni Islamic Community Centers.   

d. In the plans submitted to the City one large carpeted area is labeled "Social / Cultural Activities" 
but named "Main Hall" (as in Main Prayer Hall noted on the website) under Proposed 
Improvements. Prayer rooms dominate the so called old plans as outlined on the website that 
was primarily used to solicit donations for the project. While this site is taken down periodically it 
was up as of this writing. 
 

10. The organization has tried a couple times prior to purchase property for a Place of Worship in Troy with 
the expressed intention to worship. 

a. The evidence presented suggests it is their intention to Worship as a congregation and that they 
are currently conducting Worship at other locations.   



TZAB 120913 Page 4 
 

b. The party states that Worship would be too expensive to maintain, yet states the current 
congregation has nowhere to go as there is no availability of any other religious gathering 
/assembly place for rent or temporary use in the vicinity.   

c. There are Muslim groups across the world conducting worship in residences as well as other 
assorted facilities.  Their efforts for expansion into new facilities, has been at the heart of the 
issue in communities across the US. (ATCH 8a – 8d) 
 

11. It is inferred by the representative that the Islamic faith in the US is on the verge of distinction. 
a. 2010 census figures reveal that Islam is the fastest growing religious faith with the Muslim 

population in the US growing more than 2.5 times since 2000. 
 

12. It is inferred by the representative that the property was saved from being an abandon restaurant. 
a. Ironically, since purchased by the organization nothing has been done to the exterior of the 

building and has been allowed to deteriorate. 
i. Debris is scattered about the property, ripped awnings torn away from the buildings 

fascia flap in the wind, tall weeds remain across its frontage, and the tattered restaurant 
sign remains illuminated throughout the day and evening. 

b. It was the intention of the restaurant owner to remain open until the property was sold. The 
property would have eventually been sold to another buyer as result of price reduction. 
 

13. The following sums up the importance of having a Place of Worship within the Islamic Faith as 
presented by: Islamic Resource & Information Service (IRIS) http://www.iris.org.nz 

a. “The name of the place where Muslims worship is called a Mosque, or Masjid in Arabic.  Each 
Muslim community of reasonable size generally has at least one mosque (or Islamic Centre); 
although in countries where the majority of the people are Muslims, there will be a mosque in 
every [neighbourhood]. One of the main reasons for this is that the mosque is a very 

important part of the Muslim community and activities there are not simply limited to 

prayers.  It is a place of learning, [socializing], celebrating and more.  Furthermore, 
because men are strongly encouraged to pray their compulsory five-times-daily prayers at the 
mosque, it is practical that mosques are close at hand wherever a Muslim may be.  By Muslims 
meeting and greeting each other throughout the day it helps to keep them in touch with one 
another and builds a close-knit community where everyone knows and is able to support one 
another.” 
 

14. The results of the research performed strongly suggests the Adam Community Center is indisputably 
an Islamic Community Center and would be a Place of Worship at the subject property as it is now just 
a couple blocks down the street.  

a. Wikipedia's Definition for a Place of Worship is: A place of worship is a specially designed 
structure or consecrated space where individuals or a group of people such as a congregation 
come to perform acts of devotion, veneration, or religious study. 

b. It is irrational to suggest the plans of the Adam Community Center can change so radically to go 
against everything that has been published and documented regarding it, and the worship of 
Islam. Suggesting such a transformation simply defies gravity. 

http://www.iris.org.nz/


Definition of section 170(b)(1)(A) organization. 

(a) The term section 170(b)(1)(A) organization as used in the regulations under section 170 

means any organization described in paragraphs (b) through (j) of this section, effective with 

respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1969, except as otherwise provided. 

Section 1.170-2(b) shall continue to be applicable with respect to taxable years beginning prior 

to January 1, 1970. The term one or more organizations described in section 170(b)(1)(A) (other 

than clauses (vii) and (viii)) as used in sections 507 and 509 of the Internal Revenue Code (Code) 

and the regulations means one or more organizations described in paragraphs (b) through (f) of 

this section, except as modified by the regulations under part II of subchapter F of chapter 1 or 

under chapter 42. 

(b) Church or a convention or association of churches. An organization is described in section 

170(b)(1)(A)(i) if it is a church or a convention or association of churches. 

The Adam Community 
Center is Classified 
as a Church by the 

IRS 

TZAB 120913  
ATCH 1a 1 



TZAB 120913  2 ATCH 1b 

Adam Community Center 2013 Filing 
Michigan Dept. of Licensing & Regulatory Affairs 

Stated Purpose: “Worship Place” 

http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=WEB&FILE_NAME=D201309\2013267\E0957398.tif 

http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=WEB&FILE_NAME=D201309/2013267/E0957398.tif
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=WEB&FILE_NAME=D201309/2013267/E0957398.tif
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=WEB&FILE_NAME=D201309/2013267/E0957398.tif
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=WEB&FILE_NAME=D201309/2013267/E0957398.tif
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=WEB&FILE_NAME=D201309/2013267/E0957398.tif


TZAB 120913  3 ATCH 1c 

Adam Community Center 2012 Filing 
Michigan Dept. of Licensing & Regulatory Affairs 

Stated Purpose: “An Islamic Center for Practice of Islamic 
Religion & Prayer Place” 

http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201208\2012244\GSI01161111.TIF 

http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201208/2012244/GSI01161111.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201208/2012244/GSI01161111.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201208/2012244/GSI01161111.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201208/2012244/GSI01161111.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201208/2012244/GSI01161111.TIF


TZAB 120913  4 ATCH 1d 

Adam Community Center 2010 Filing 
Michigan Dept. of Licensing & Regulatory Affairs 

Stated Purpose: “Mosque” 

http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201008\2010242\GSI00289258.TIF 

http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201008/2010242/GSI00289258.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201008/2010242/GSI00289258.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201008/2010242/GSI00289258.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201008/2010242/GSI00289258.TIF
http://www.dleg.state.mi.us/bcs_corp/image.asp?FILE_TYPE=MAO&FILE_NAME=D201008/2010242/GSI00289258.TIF


Fullscreen capture 1022013 114353 AM 

Adam Community Center’s 

Facebook Page 10/22/2013 

Prior to being notified by City of 

Appeal Board Review 

TZAB 120913  

Photos of Adam Community Center 

Contained on Facebook Page 

ATCH 2 5 



AdamCC.us Website 

The site denotes its intentions to be a  

Place of Worship  

and solicits donations for it as so. 

TZAB 120913  ATCH 3a 6 



Data released from the 2010 U.S. 
Religion Census shows Islam was 
the fastest growing religion in 
America in the last 10 years, with 
2.6 million living in the U.S. today, 
up from 1 million in 2000. 
 
Read 
more: http://www.nydailynews.co
m/news/national/number-muslims-
u-s-doubles-9-11-article-
1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8 

TZAB 120913  ATCH 3b 7 

http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8
http://www.nydailynews.com/news/national/number-muslims-u-s-doubles-9-11-article-1.1071895#ixzz2kBTkPDs8


While the party claims this is an outdated 

Website, it continues to be operational, and 

highlights its intentions as a facility of worship  

TZAB 120913  ATCH 3c 8 



The Prayer Images are of the Actual Congregation 

At the Adam Community Center 

All Others are Demos 

TZAB 120913  ATCH 3d 9 



TZAB 120913  ATCH 3e 10 

Clearly states it is an Islamic Center 
for Muslims to Worship 

There is currently a representative residing at the current  
Adam Community Center a block down the street. 



TZAB 120913  
ATCH 3f 11 

An Imam is a prayer 
leader and is identified 
by "Imam" preceding 
their name.  



MasjidNow.com 

 

Posting Adam Community 

 Center as Place of  

Islamic Worship 

http://www.iris.org.nz/places_of_worship.php 

TZAB 120913  

Definition 

ATCH 4a 12 

http://www.iris.org.nz/places_of_worship.php 

http://www.iris.org.nz/places_of_worship.php
http://www.iris.org.nz/places_of_worship.php


Halaqa Definition From Wikipedia 
 
A halaqa is a religious gathering or 
meeting for the primary purpose of 
learning about theology, typically Islam. 
Generally, there are one or more primary 
speakers that present the designated 
topic(s) of the Halaqa while others sit 
and listen. The attendees may participate 
in the discussions, ask questions, and 
voice concerns. Usually, prayers and 
supplications are part of such programs. 
Also, meals or snacks may be served to 
the participants.[1] 

 

Adam Community Center Posting  
From the “Masjid Now” iPhone App. 
Listed as a Mosque in its Current  
Location 
 
Posting for its: 
1. Friday Prayer Service Jum’ah 

Khutbah 
2. Sermons and Breakfast after 

Saturday Morning Prayer 
 
Has not been updated since notice 
sent by City for a Zoning Appeals 
Board Review 

13 ATCH 4b 

Masjid Now iPhone App 

TZAB 120913  

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Islam
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Halaqa#cite_note-1


Party has denied organization posting to this site, yet 

 it requires registration to do so, and it has the same 

 image as within their Facebook Page 

Facebook Page 

TZAB 120913  ATCH 5 14 



Facebook Page Fundraiser 

For establishing a Place of Worship  

For the Adam Community Center 

This Has Since Been Removed by Adam CC 

TZAB 120913  
ATCH 6 15 



Adam CC Building Plans Submitted to City 

Prayer Rooms 

Note that the area 

labeled Social / 

Cultural area is 

referred to as 

“Main Hall” (as in 

Prayer Hall) in the 

Current Proposed 

Improvements 

? 

? 

? 

http://islam.about.com 

TZAB 120913  

16 ATCH 7a 

Use of this ramp would require 

trespassing on Adjacent Property  

Previous 

Owner Claimed 

Addition of 

Deck Never 

Fully Approved  

by City??? 

Sign Poles 

Adamcc.us 

Adamcc.us 

http://islam.about.com/


Note that the area 

is referred to here 

as “Main Hall” (as 

in Prayer Hall) 

indicated on the 

AdamCC.us 

website for 

intended facility 

Typical of prayer hall with shoes not permitted 

Muslims must pray on 

same level 

Required foot baths not included in improvements 

otherwise sinks or showers will be used for this purpose 

Use of this ramp would require 

trespassing on Adjacent Property 

TZAB 120913  17 ATCH 7b 

Adamcc.us 

The representative claims it currently services 150 Families. Not even 

considering congregational growth, with the average household size 

between 3 - 3.5, this would equate to between 450 – 525 potential current 

occupants, twice that of total occupant load. 



Muslims seek more space to worship 
Muslim men pray on Friday, August 30, 2013, at the Islamic Center… (Tom Benitez, 
Orlando Sentinel ) 
September 7, 2013|By Eloísa Ruano González, Staff Writer 
 
It was midday, and congregants made their way up a dirt road toward a modest doublewide 
manufactured home in time for Friday's prayer service. They slipped off their shoes before coming 
into the house  and finding a spot on the soft caramel-colored carpet and quietly prostrating in 
prayer. 
 
For about five years, Muslims have used the house east of Hancock Road near Clermont as a place 
of worship. Interior walls have come down over the years to make room for the ballooning 
congregation. But the Islamic Center of Clermont has run out of walls to tear down. Leaders say 
they're in desperate need of space to accommodate a growing Muslim population in south Lake. 
 
"This place is usually packed," said Wahab Insanally, the organization's treasurer. 
To accommodate growth, plans for a proposed 16,650-square-foot Islamic center have been 
submitted to both Clermont and Lake County. Anwar Latib, a representative of the mosque, said it 
could be a few years before it's built, but the project has already stirred criticism from Clermont 
City Council member Ray Goodgame. 
 
Goodgame recently emailed a newsletter to supporters, raising concerns over the mosque. He 
called the group's plan to build a mosque "bad news" for the city and warned of "wailing music." 
After the story broke, Goodgame said it wouldn't be "healthy" to talk more about the mosque. He 
didn't return a phone call late last week seeking comment. 
Imam Shady Alshorman said Goodgame's opinions left some members  of his congregation 
confused and upset since music isn't allowed in the mosque. He said he's reminded them in the 
lectures "to have patience.“ 
 
"People have a misunderstanding. They have an unclear image of what we [Muslims] do," the 34-
year-old Alshorman said about the community. He said a larger space would allow them to hold 
more classes, lectures and community events to teach the public about Islam, regardless of 
whether they're Muslim. 
 
Despite the current tight quarters, roughly 150 people attend the prayer service on Fridays, 
considered the day of gathering and congregational prayer for Muslims. That's a significant 
increase from the dozen or so who attended the service when Insanally, a 37-year-old pharmacist, 
first joined the congregation seven years ago after moving to Clermont from New York City. 
 
Latib said the number of Muslims will continue to increase as more people move to south Lake. 
 
Drawn to the area's rolling hills, rural lifestyle and affordable housing, he said, people are moving 
away from high-traffic areas, including Orlando and New York City. 
 

News Articles Containing Examples Highlighting  

Congregational Islamic Worship 

TZAB 120913  18 ATCH 8a 

http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2013-09-07/news/os-lk-muslim-growth-south-lake-20130907_1_clermont-city-council-prayer-service-muslims
http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2013-09-07/news/os-lk-muslim-growth-south-lake-20130907_1_clermont-city-council-prayer-service-muslims
http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2013-09-07/news/os-lk-muslim-growth-south-lake-20130907_1_clermont-city-council-prayer-service-muslims


"It's been progressively growing," the 53-year-old Latib said about his congregation. "These are Muslims who live 
and work in the area and pay taxes .“ 
 
The new, larger mosque is targeted for a 4-acre plot purchased nearby at Hancock and Johns Lake roads that's 
already zoned for a place of worship — a lesson Islamic Center of Clermont leaders learned last year after 
unsuccessfully trying to get the property where they're currently worshiping rezoned. 
 
Since the site is within Clermont's utility area, it requires a review by the city, according to Clermont officials. 
Randy Razack, a board member and treasurer of a nearby mosque — the Islamic Center of South Lake County off 
U.S. Highway 27 near Minneola — has also seen strong growth. 
 
About 200 people fill the mosque every Friday and even more — 200 to 250 — attend nightly prayer services during 
Ramadan, Razack said. 
 
Ramadan is a special time for Muslims, who believe the Quran was first revealed to the Prophet Muhammad in that 
Islamic month and, therefore, focus on their prayers and spirituality and fast from dawn to dusk. 
Razack's congregation only had about 50 members when he joined a decade ago. 
 
"We've grown every year about 5 to 10 percent," he said, adding that members of the congregation had bounced 
around from site to site. 
 
Before the 4,000-square- foot mosque was built in 20120 on 5 acres near Minneola, members prayed at a strip mall 
and in hotel conference rooms and a former school. 
 
They even gathered, for more than a year, beneath a roofless structure covered by a blue tarp, until county code-
enforcement officials forced them to tear down the makeshift mosque in 2003. 
 
Lake County is home  to about 4,200 Muslims, according to the latest census by the Association of Religion Data. 
Razack expects his center's membership  to double in size within the next five years as the south Lake continues to 
grow. 
 
But, he added, the mosque can't take on much more growth — it isn't far from reaching the 300-person capacity. 
Another mosque is needed in south Lake, especially as more people from surrounding cities drive to the area to 
pray, he said. 
 
"We have people coming from as far as Haines City, Davenport … and some from Oakland and Winter Garden," 
Razack said. 
 
Although it could be a few years before the Islamic Center of Clermont builds a permanent mosque, Zamenah Fazal 
is looking forward to the larger space. 
 
For years, she said she was among the few women who prayed at the mosque. 
 
"Sometimes it was just me, my mother and sister-in-law … That's how small it was," the 53-year-old Clermont 
resident said. 
 
That's no longer the case, said Fazal, after greeting and embracing some of the dozens of women wearing colorful 
scarves and long-sleeved dresses who attended a recent service that drew just fewer than 100 people. 
"Clermont is still growing," she said. "And it's growing along with Muslims." 
elogonzalez@tribune.com or 352-742-5917 
 

Muslims seek more space to worship cont. 

TZAB 120913  19 ATCH 8b 

http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2013-09-07/news/os-lk-muslim-growth-south-lake-20130907_1_clermont-city-council-prayer-service-muslims
http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2013-09-07/news/os-lk-muslim-growth-south-lake-20130907_1_clermont-city-council-prayer-service-muslims
http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2013-09-07/news/os-lk-muslim-growth-south-lake-20130907_1_clermont-city-council-prayer-service-muslims
mailto:elogonzalez@tribune.com


Today, he and many supporters started their own 
Islamic community in a new building. After trying twice 
before to raise the funds and find a building, many 
Muslims in the south end of the valley have their own 
house of worship. Nearly 150 came to Friday prayers at 
the new center located at 9000 South and 215 West in 
Sandy. 
Read more 
at http://www.ksl.com/?nid=148&sid=1324608#iTALM
zKuhwHHrM4L.99 

Utah's Muslim Community Has 
a New House of Worship 

Neighbors oppose expansion of 
Islamic worship center in 
Alpharetta 
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-

oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/ 

Muslims have worshipped more than a decade in a 
nondescript ranch-style house on Rucker Road in 
Alpharetta. 
 
The faithful enter the Islamic Center of North Fulton 
five times a day, kneel along lines drawn on the blue 
carpet and face Mecca. But prayer services are the 
only activity this building has room to accommodate, 
said Moiz Mumtaz, chairman of the center’s board of 
trustees. 

The Islamic Center of St. Cloud has been 
active in the city since 1996. They're 
currently housed in a former 
Congregational church in downtown St. 
Cloud. 
 
Salad told commissioners the current 
building has only two main halls. The new 
property would serve about 600 
worshippers, but the community would 
also keep the old building to allow space 
for growth, he said. 
 
"We use each hall as a prayer area, 
religious education, school for kids and 
adults, and as a community center," Salad 
said. "This [new] property would allow us 
to separate all these functions like any 
other place of worship." 

Mosque proposal in St. 
Cloud tabled after 
hearing 
by Jon Collins, Minnesota Public Radio 
August 14, 2013 
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/
2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud 

TZAB 120913  20 ATCH 8c 

http://www.ksl.com/?nid=148&sid=1324608iTALMzKuhwHHrM4L.99
http://www.ksl.com/?nid=148&sid=1324608iTALMzKuhwHHrM4L.99
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://www.ajc.com/news/news/local/neighbors-oppose-expansion-of-islamic-worship-cent/nQfHb/
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/about/people/mpr_people_display.php?aut_id=31188
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud
http://minnesota.publicradio.org/display/web/2013/08/14/news/islamic-center-st-cloud


http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-
chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html 

TZAB 120913  21 ATCH 8d 

http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html
http://www.nbcchicago.com/news/local/west-chicago-islam-residential-zoning-98293589.html


Saint Anastasia Roman Catholic Church 
Troy, MI Offers Many Activities  
Intended as Acts of Worship in  

Addition to Offering  
Once a Week Prayer Services 

TZAB 120913  22 ATCH 9a 

The mass majority of religious organizations with an established Place of Worship 
conduct a multitude of activities as a form of Worship, just as those outlined by the 

Adam Community Center representative as activities intended. 



Kensington Community Church 
Troy, MI Offers Many Activities  
Intended as Acts of Worship in  

Addition to Offering  
Once a Week Services 

TZAB 120913  

23 ATCH 9b 



Evanswood Church of God  
Troy, MI Offers Many Activities  
Intended as Acts of Worship in  

Addition to Offering  
Once a Week Prayer Services 

TZAB 120913  24 ATCH 9c 



TZAB 120913  25 ATCH 9d 

Big Beaver Methodist Church 
Troy, MI Offers a Host of Calendar Activities  

Intended as Acts of Worship in  
Addition to Offering  

Weekly Services 

In many cases the act of praying makes up only a small 
percentage of worship performed by a Place of Worship 



 
St Stephen’s Episcopal Church 
Troy, MI Offers Many Activities  
Intended as Acts of Worship in  

Addition to Offering  
Weekly Prayer Services 

 

TZAB 120913  26 ATCH 9e 

While most Places of Worship have multiple services for their congregation 
on a certain day, usually Sunday, Muslims must pray at a specific time 5 

times a day and as a congregation at a specific time on Fridays. 



St. Nicholas Greek Orthodox Church 
Troy, MI Offers Many Activities  

Intended as Acts of Worship in Addition to  
Offering Once a Week Prayer Services 

TZAB 120913  27 ATCH 9f 


	Board Procedure
	Variance Review Standards
	AGENDA December 17, 2013 
	1. ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	November 19, 2013

	3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	4. HEARING OF CASES
	A. VARIANCE REQUEST, ROBERT A. CHAPMAN, 482 STARR
	Request to Withdraw

	B. VARIANCE REQUEST, MARVIN PISARCZYK for WITZENMANN USA, 1201 and 1305 STEPHENSON HIGHWAY
	Locational Maps (3) 
	Application

	C. VARIANCE REQUEST, BRANDON MULLER for CLARK HILL PCL, 268-388 JOHN R
	Locational Maps (2) 
	Application
	Public Comment

	D. ZONING ORDINANCE INTERPRETATION, 4924 ROCHESTER
	Locational Maps (2)
	Memorandum from Assistant City Attorney 
	Application
	Public Comment 1
	Public Comment 2

	5. COMMUNICATIONS
	6. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS
	7. PUBLIC COMMENT
	8. ADJOURNMENT


	ADDRESS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY: 4924 Rochester Road
	2 PROPERTY TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS: 88-20-14-101-043
	3 ZONING ORDINANCE SECTIONS RELATED TO THE REQUEST: Sec. 15.04.D (see attached)
	particulars: No
	NAME: Zoning Administrator
	COMPANY: City of Troy
	ADDRESS: 500 W. Big Beaver
	CITY: Troy
	STATE: MI
	ZIP: 48084
	PHONE: 
	EMAIL: 
	AFFILIATION TO THE PROPERTY OWNER: N/A
	NAME_2: 
	COMPANY_2: UDDIN REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS CO. L.L.C.
	ADDRESS_2: 2835 Tumbleweed
	CITY_2: Troy
	STATE_2: MI
	ZIP_2: 48098
	TELEPHONE: 
	EMAIL_2: 
	I: 
	DATE: 
	PRINT NAME: 
	DATE_2: 
	PRINT NAME_2: 
	Button 22: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 43: 

	Button 23: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 43: 

	Button 20: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 42: 

	Button 21: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 42: 

	Button 38: 
	Page 115: 
	Page 117: 
	Page 121: 
	Page 123: 
	Page 125: 
	Page 127: 
	Page 129: 
	Page 131: 
	Page 133: 
	Page 135: 
	Page 159: 
	Page 161: 
	Page 163: 
	Page 169: 
	Page 119: 

	Button 39: 
	Page 115: 
	Page 117: 
	Page 121: 
	Page 123: 
	Page 125: 
	Page 127: 
	Page 129: 
	Page 131: 
	Page 133: 
	Page 135: 
	Page 159: 
	Page 161: 
	Page 163: 
	Page 169: 
	Page 119: 

	Button 36: 
	Page 116: 
	Page 118: 
	Page 122: 
	Page 124: 
	Page 126: 
	Page 128: 
	Page 130: 
	Page 132: 
	Page 134: 
	Page 136: 
	Page 158: 
	Page 160: 
	Page 162: 
	Page 164: 
	Page 172: 
	Page 120: 

	Button 37: 
	Page 116: 
	Page 118: 
	Page 122: 
	Page 124: 
	Page 126: 
	Page 128: 
	Page 130: 
	Page 132: 
	Page 134: 
	Page 136: 
	Page 158: 
	Page 160: 
	Page 162: 
	Page 164: 
	Page 172: 
	Page 120: 

	Button 32: 
	Page 190: 

	Button 33: 
	Page 190: 

	Button 34: 
	Page 191: 

	Button 35: 
	Page 191: 

	Button 70: 
	Page 315: 
	Page 317: 

	Button 71: 
	Page 315: 
	Page 317: 

	Button 68: 
	Page 316: 
	Page 318: 

	Button 69: 
	Page 316: 
	Page 318: 



